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2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
AUD AUD

29 5 6 $ 9,603,780 769,070 $ 14,361,471 1,150,066
2.1 4,213 337 212 16
2.3 - - 67,196 5,381
9,607,993 769,408 14,428,879 1,155,464
2.1 - - 67,149 5,377
3,966 317 - -
3,966 317 67,149 5,377
3 $ 9,604,027 769,090 $ 14,361,730 1,150,087
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2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
AUD AUD
FVTPL
@
2.7 2.11 $ 571,318 45,751 $ 629,277 50,392
(2,697,422) (216,009) 1,383,753 110,810
2.11 7
29,293 2,345 295,586 23,670
2.2 2.11 7

2.6 2 0 121 9
)6 13) @ 14 1
/ (2,096,822) (167,913) 2,308,751 184,884
8.2F 85,014 6,807 106,767 8,549
81,365 6,515 77,976 6,244
8.28 49,877 3,994 62,711 5,021
8.2D 1,141 91 1,436 114
217,397 17,409 248,890 19,931
(2,314,219) (185,322) 2,059,861 164,953
2.7 (353,921) (28,341) (380,513) (30,471)
$  (2,668,140) (213,664) $ 1,679,348 134,482

(€]
FVTPL
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2020 9 30
AUD
2018 9 30 $ 15,286,373 1,224,132
3,252,811 260,485
2.8 (5,856,802) (469,012)
1,679,348 134,482
2019 9 30 $ 14,361,730 1,150,087
495,464 39,676
2.8 (2,585,027) (207,008)
(2,668, 140) (213,664)
2020 9 30 $ 9,604,027 769,090
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2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
AUD AUD

$  (2,668,140) (213,664) $ 1,679,348 134,482
353,921 28,341 380,513 30,471
(138,615,566) (11,100,334)  (174,314,853) 13,959,133
140,705,128 11,267,666 176,918,844 14,167,661
2,697,422 216,009 (1,383,753) (110,810)
(29,293) (2,345) (295,586) (23,670)
67,196 5,381 (36,381) (2,913)
3,966 317 - -
2,514,634 201,371 2,948,132 236,086
495,464 39,676 3,252,811 260,485
(353,921) (28,341) (380,513) (30,471)
(2,585,027) (207,008) (5,887,616) (471,480)
(2,443,484) (195,674) (3,015,318) (241,466)
71,150 5,697 (67,186) (5,380)
)1 (66,937) (5,360) 249 19
’1 $ 4,213 337 $ (66,937) (5,360)
$ 353,921 28,341 $ 380,387 30,461
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2020 9 30
1.
2013 12 2
11
2016 8 5
2016 9 26
2014 1 22
KY1-9007
190 190 Elgin Avenue, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9007, Cayman lIslands
DS
2
AUD $
JPY \
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2020 9 30
1
@ 3
(i
2
100%
23

2021 9 16

G 100
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2020 9 30
1
1 22
1
1
1
2021 2 1
2.
IFRS
IFRS
4
IFRS 10  IFRS 12 IAS 27 2012
IFRS 9 3
FVTPL FVOCI  IFRS 9
FVTPL
FVTPL
SPPI
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2020 9 30

SPP1

FVTPL
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2020 9 30
ECL Fvocl
ECL
FVTPL
12
ECL
2020 9 30
2019 10 1
2.1
3
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2020 2019
$ 4,213 % 212
$ 4,213 8 212
- (67,149)
$ 4,213 $ (66,937)
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2020 9 30

2.2

A

FVTPL
2020 9 30 - 2020 9 30 -
$ 9,603,780 % 9,578,786
2019 9 30 - 2019 9 30 -
$ 14,361,471  $ 14,365,770

B

C
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2016 9 26

2.3

2.4

2020 9 30

2.5

2.6

2019 9 30
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2020 9 30
B
2.7
€
(ii i
i i
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2020 2019
$ 207,371 $ 198,430
146,550 182,083
$ 353,921  $ 380,513
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2020 9 30

2.8

IAS 32

2020 9 30 2019 9 30

2.9

2.10
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2.11 FVTPL
FVTPL
FVTPL

FVTPL

FVTPL
2020 9 30

2.12

IAS 12

2020 9 30

2019 9 30

2019 9 30

2063 12 2
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$353,921 $308,387

2020 9 30 2019 9 30



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 9 30
3.
1
1 1
1 100
1 1,000
2 2
2020 9 30 1
1
$ 5,517,702 62,230 % 88.666
4,086,325 350,173 11.669
$ 9,604,027 412,403
2019 9 30 1
1
$ 8,677,086 77,649 % 111.748
5,684,644 387,273 14.679
$ 14,361,730 464,922
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2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30 1
100%
1
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2019 9 30 2020 9 30
$ 7,972,190 $ 495,464 $ (2,093,870) $ 6,373,784
5,677,760 - (491,157) 5,186,603
$ 13,649,950 $ 495,464 $ (2,585,027) $ 11,560,387
2018 9 30 2019 9 30
$ 6,438,570 $ 3,252,811 $ (1,719,191) $ 7,972,190
9,815,371 - (4,137,611) 5,677,760
$ 16,253,941 $ 3,252,811 % (5,856,802) $ 13,649,950
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2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2019 9 30 2020 9 30
77,649 5,110 (20,529) 62,230
387,273 - (37,100) 350,173
464,922 5,110 (57,629) 412,403
2018 9 30 2019 9 30
64,147 29,595 (16,093) 77,649
689,618 - (302,345) 387,273
753,765 29,595 (318,438) 464,922
1
4.
5.
5.1
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2020 9 30
A
i
INF
2020 9 30
2020 9 30
%
Y $ 3,920 $ 4,063,020 $ (3,966) $ 4,062,974 42.3%
USD 200 - - 200 0.0%
4,120 4,063,020 (3,966) 4,063,174 42.3%
AUD 93 5,540,760 - 5,540,853 57.7%
$ 4,213 '$ 9,603,780 $ (3,966) $ 9,604,027 100.0%
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2020 9 30
2019 9 30
2019 9 30
%
JPY - 5,659,494 $ 48) $ 5,659,446 39.4%
uSsD 212 - - 212 0.0%
212 5,659,494 (48) 5,659,658 39.4%
AUD - 8,701,977 95 8,702,072 60.6%
212 14,361,471 $ 47 $ 14,361,730 100.0%
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2020
JPY +/- 4.54% +/- 184,459
uSsD +/- 6.82% +/- 14
2019
JPY +/- 11.33% +/- 641,215
uSsD +/- 6.51% +/- 14
ii
1 LIBOR
AS51Prop
LIBOR
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2020 9 30

iii
2020 9 30 2019 9 30 1%

9 6,038 14 3,615 1% 9 6,038 14
3,615

B

2020 9 30 2019 9 30
9,649,450 6,916,243 14,621,278 9,861,321

73/185



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2020 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
A 2020 9 30 2019 9 30
Al
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
C
3
15%
2020 9 30 1 13
$ 3,966 $ - $ 3,966
$ 3,966 $ - $ 3,966
2019 9 30 1 1 3
$ 67,149 $ - $ 67,149
$ 67,149 $ - $ 67,149
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2020 9 30

5.2
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2020 9 30
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COVID-19

5.3
IFRS 13

2021 9 16

COVID-19
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2020 9 30
3
1
2 1
3
3
2020 9 30
2020 9 30
1 2 3
$ - $ 9,603,780 $ - $ 9,603,780
$ - $ 9,603,780 $ - $ 9,603,780
2019 9 30
2020 9 30
1 2 3
$ - $ 14,361,471 $ - $ 14,361,471
$ - $ 14,361,471 $ - $ 14,361,471
2020 9 30 2019 9 30 1 2 3
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2020 9 30
2
2
3 2020 9 30 2019 9
30 3
22
2.2 D
(i 2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2
(i
6.
5
- 2020 9 30 57.7%
2021 9 10 $ 5,540,760 $ 14,793
- 2020 9 30 42.3%
2021 9 10 $ 4,063,020 $ 10,201
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2020 9 30
- 2019 9 30 60.6%
2021 9 10 $ 8,701,977 $ (3,369)
- 2019 9 30 39.4%
2021 9 10 $ 5,659,494 $ (930)
7.
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
$ (2,697,422) $ 1,383,753
$ (2,697,422) $ 1,383,753
$ 29,293 $ 295,586
$ 29,293 $ 295,586
1 X
1
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2020 9 30
8.
8.1
A

0.03% 1 3,333 12
B
C

0.01% 1 10

8.2
A

10,000

2020 9 30 2019 9 30
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
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2020 9 30
B
2020 9 30 2019 9 30 2020 9
30 2019 9 30
(i
(ii
(iii
22
0.41% 0.03% 3,333
Actual/365
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2020 9 30
c
5,000
2020 9 30 2019 9 30 2020 9 30
2019 9 30

D

0.01%

2020 9 30 2019 9 30

®

2020 9 30 2019 9 30

6 7 2020 9 30 2019 9 30

$(2,697,422) $1,383,753
$29,293 $295,586
Q@)
0.75%

2020 9 30 2019 9 30
G
9.

10%
2020 9 30 2019 9 30
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2020 9 30
10.
2020 10 1 COVID-19
2020 9 30
COVID-19
2021 2 1 2020 10
1 2021 2 1 $2,057,709 $48,310
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Australla REIT Fund

Statement of Financial Position

September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausiralian Doflars)

Ausets September 30, 2020 _September 30, 2019
Financial sssets at fair valus through profit or loss (Mots 2.2, 5, 8) 3 8,803,780 5 14,381 471
Cash and cash equivalents (Nobe 2.1) 4213 12
Receivables for;

Imvestments sold (Note 2.3) = 87,158
Total assats 9 807,853 14,428 879
Linbilities
Bank overdraft (Nete 2.1) - 67,148
Payables for.

Other Rabilities 3,966 -
Lishifties {eciuding net ssssts atiributabls to the holder of units) 3,968 67,148
Mt assets atiribulsbée to the holder of units (MNobe 3} 5 9 804,027 $ 14,361,730

The accompanying nobes are an integral part of thease financial etatements.
1
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(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

Income
Mat Incomai(isas) from finencisl Instruments at FYTPLT

Genarated Income (Mate 2.7, 2.11)
Nel realired (loss)/gain on financlel assets and Bablifles &t falr value
through profit or loss (Note 211, T)

Kol changs In unrealized appraclation on finandal sasots and
liablkies &t falr value thiough profit of logs (Mol 2.2, 211, T)
Mt realized gain on forsign curency tranasclions (Mote 2.8)

Miet change in unrealized (depreciation)appreciation an foreign curmency
transiations (Note 2.8)

Total (less)incoms

Expensas
Distribution fess (Mots B.2F)
Formakion expenss
Operational Cost fees (Note 8.28)
MAgent Meminer Comparry fees (Mote 8.20)
Totsl expenses

Oparating (loss)gain befors Anencs costa

Flnance costs
Déstributions to the holder of units (Note 2.7)

{Decrease)increass in net sssets stiributable to the haolder of units
from opemations

Sepiember 30,7030  _Sepiwmber 30, 218
§ 571,318 § 628,277
(2,887 422) 1,383,783
28,253 296, 586
2 121
(13 14
— (2098822 2,308,751
B5,014 106,787
81,365 77878
42,877 Bz
1,141 1438
FALR 1. L4680
12,314,219 2,050,861
— 353891  __ (38051%)
2 Goeae 3 167848

) This reiates to net incorma from fnancial insruments measursd at fair value through proft or loss (FFVTPLY) Including realired and
unreakred gainafiosses on finencial essets and liabdities at fair value through profit or loss and Generaled Incorme.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
F
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(Expressad in Ausfralian Doflars)

At Soptamber 30, 2018 L 15,288,373
lssua of units (Nl 3) J2s281
Ropurchasas of unlts (Note 2.8, 3) (6,856,802}
Increase In nel assats affributable to the holder of units from oparations 1,676,348
At September 30, 2019 $ 14,361,730
lzsum of units (Nota 3) ABS 464
Repurchasas of units (Note 2.8, ¥) (2,585,027
Doacrease in net assets atiributable to the hoider of wnits from oparntions {2 SE8 140}
At Baplarber 30, 2020 5 0,804,027

Thve mccompanying notes are an inegral par of these finencal staterments.
3
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Augfralla REIT Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020
(Exprassad in Ausiralian Doflars)
_Septamber30,2020 _September 30, 2018 _
Cash flows from operating activities:

(Decreasa)increass in net assets atiributabls to the holder of unita from opemtions
Adjustments (o reconcile (decrease)increase in net assets sitribatabls to the holder of

units from aperations to cash provided by operating scthvies:
Distributions paid to the holdar of units
Purchases of financial sssets st fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from disposition of financial assets o fair value through prof of joss

Mt reafized osafgain) on financial assets and lisbfses &t fair value through praft ar
losa

Net change in unreslized (appreciation) on Snancial assets and EabiBlies o fair value

through profit or loss
Decresseiincreass) in receirables for imvestment sold

Increase in other payables
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Procseds from units Esuad
Distributions paid to the holder of unis
Repurchases of unks

Mot cash used In financing activites

et Increase/{decrease] In cesh and cash sgquivalents
Cash and cash squivalents at beginning of year (Nola 2.1)

Cash and cash equivalonts at and of year (Mot 2.1)

Supplamantary information on cash flows from oparating scthvities
Interest racabsmed

5 (2668140 % 1,679,348
353,921 380,513
(138,615, 566) (174,314, 853)
140,708,128 176,918,844
2,897 422 (1,383, 753)
(29,293 {295,586)
ar.108 {38,381)
3,968 -
2,514 834 2,948,132
495,484 3,252,811
(353,921) {380,513)
(2,585 027} (5,587 818)
(2443.484) (3,015,318)
71,180 {87,188}
{88,937} 248
) 4713 % {88,937}
5 ‘g 0§ 380,367

The mccompanying nodes are an inlegrl part of these financial statements.
4
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Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)
1. ORGANIZATION

Australia REIT Fund (the “Series Trust”) ia a Seres Trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trus! (Cayman) il {the "Trust’),
an opef-ended umbrella unit trust constituled by a Master Trust Deed dated December 2, 2013 under Cayman
Islands law. The Serss Trust was esiablished pursuant to a Supplemental Trust Desd dated August 5, 2018 and
executed by Elian Trustee (Cayman) Limited (the “Trustee”), a trust company incorporated under the laws of the
Cayman lslands. The Seres Trust commenced operatiens on Seplamber 26, 2016,

Thie Trugl is an exempled unil trust under te Trusts Low (Revised) of the Cayman lslands and reglstered under the
Mutual Funds Law (Revised) of the Cayman |slands on January 22, 2014,

The principal offce for the Trustes (and therefore the Serias Trust) = 190 Elgin Avenue, Georga Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-8007, Cayman Islands.

The manager of the Serles Trust Is Credit Sulsse Management (Cayman) Limited (the "Manager”).

The Administraior, Custodian and Transfer Agent of tha Series Trust is Brown Brothers Hammiman & Co. ({the
“Adminisirator”, “Cusiodian”™ end "Transfer Agent).

Credit Sulsse Intemational acls as the Fee Agent (the "Fee Agent”), Calculation Agent (the "Calculation Agent”) and
tha Collxlaralized Swaps Counlerparty (the “Collateralized Swaps Counterparty™).

Cradit Sulsse Securiies {Japan) Limited acts as the Agent Member Company (the “Agent Mamber Company™).

The Manager Support Service Provider of the Series Trust is Sumitomo Milsul DS Assel Managemenl Company,
Limitad (formarty Daiwa SB Investmants, Ltd.) (the “Manager Suppor! Sarvica Providar”).

Tha Manager has authorized Daiwa Securities Co. Ltd. to act as a distributor (the “Distributor”) of tha units in Japan.

Two classes of units in the Sedes Trusl are cumendy available for ssue; AUD Class Units and JPY Class Unils.
The Series Trust and the AUD Class Units are denominated in Australian Dollars. All references to “"AUD" and “§" are
io Austrakan Dollars. The JPY Class Units are denominated in Japaness Yen ("en®, "JPY™, "¥").

The investnent objective of the Series Trust is lo provide invesiors with medium-to-long lerm appreciation and siable
incoma by providing exposure o a notional trading strategy (the "Strategy”) which invests in a price retum Australian

REIT index (the “Index").

In order to provide exposure to the Strategy, the Trustee, in s capacity as trustee of the Series Trust, entered inlo
mmmmwﬁmnmwmm Tha Collateralizad Swaps
are total relum swaps of within approximately cne year tenor pursusnt to which the Collalerslized Swaps
Counterparty.

(i) solicited prices for enterng inlo an unfunded swap linked lo the Index by way of an auction process from at least
threa markes! participants and;

(i) provided notional expasurs fo the Indax and dividends or distibutions notionally paid by constifuants of the Inde.

As a result, the Trustes for the accounl of the Sedes Trust notionally recsives from the Collaleralized Swaps
Counterparty the retum from the performance of the index and the dividends or distributions notionally paid by
constituents of the Index and notionally pays the prices determined by way of the auction procees. The Seres Trust
alzo receives interest accrued on the dividand or distribution amourts recalved from tha Index, untl paid out on tha
cormesponding Distribution Date. Together, these two elements are referred o as the "Generated Income”, Exposure
fo the Strategy in principle represents 100% of the net asset valua ("Net Assst Value™ being the value of its total
agsets minus its liabiliies including accrued fees and expenses) at the time of entry into the Collateralized Swaps.

The Collateralized Swaps Counterparty, has also agreed under the Collateralized Swaps to pay the operational costa
(this "Cost Coupan') to the Trustes in B8 capacily a& rustes of the Saries Trusl, which the Trushes nbends 1o apply
fowards the payment of the Fee Agent's Operational Costs Fee (dafined on page 23). The unitholder will nol therefore
be enfilied to any distributions of the Cest Coupon.
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Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements [continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

Final Repurchase Day

The Sares Trust will continue until the sarier of September 16, 2021, or any subsequent date as mulually agreed by
the Trustee and the Manager and the earliest practicable repurchase day following the occurrence of & compulsory
repurchase avent in respect (the "Final Repurchase Day"), unless terminsted sarier in accordance with the
provisions of the Trusl Deed.

The units ane compulsorily repurchasad upon the first to occur of any of the following:

i} the Net Asszel Value atiributable to such class of units on any valuation day is in respect of AUD Class Unils,
51,000,000 or leag, or in respact of JPY Class Units, ¥100 000,000 or lsss and, on that valuation day or
thersafter the Manager delarminas thal all of tha units of such dass of units
repurchased by giving notice to the unitholder; or

should
iy the Trustee and the Manager egreeing thal all of the units of such dlass of unils should be compulsorily
repurchased (this may include, bul is not limited fo, circumstances whers the Trustea and the Manager
agree to compulsorly repurchase all of the units upon the termination dete or an eary lemination of the
Collaleralized Swaps for whalever reason prior o the lemminalion date, (sach a "Compulsory Repurchase

Ewvent®).
Upon the occurrence of 8 Compulsory Repurchase Event for & class of units, each unit of such class of units is

valustion dity tha immadistaly praceding valuation day). Rapurchase day is sach dealing day for this relevant class of
units which is also a day on which no Series Trust disruplion evert ccours andior such other day or days as the
Manager may from time io time detarmine in respect of the Seres Truat or a clags of units.

Unitholder is able to recetve an amount in respect of each unit of 8 cass of units repurchased on any repurchase day
prior to the Final Repurchase Day aqual to the MNat Assel Value par unit of such class of units as at tha relavant

repurchese day {or if that repurchase day is not also a valualion day the immediately preceding valuation day) (the
"Rapurchasa Price™). Ther is no repurchase fee appliad o the Repurchase Price in meapect of sach unit baing
repurchased.

The financial stetements were authorized for lasue by the Trustee on February 1, 2021.
Z. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting pelicies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These

pragaration of financial slatemants in accordance with IFRS requires hmﬂmmﬂﬂmnﬁmuﬂﬁm
and requires the Trustee and the Manager fo exercise their judgment in the process of applying the Series Trust's
accounting policies. Arsas whars assurmptions and estimates ara significant to the financial statements are disclosad
in Note 4. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Seriss Trust has sdopted Investment Emtitles (Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and [AS 2T) (2012} (the
Amendments). Management concluded that the Series Trust meets the definition of an investment entity.

Claszslfication and measurement of financlal assets and financlal Rabllites

IFRS & contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value

throwgh profit and loss (FVTPL) and fair value through othar comprahansive incoms (FVOCT). The classification of
financial assets under IFRS @ is generally based on the businesa model in which a financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash fiow characteristica.

On initial necognition, the Sedes Trust classifies financial assets a3 measured at amortized cost or FVTPL. A financial
ssset is measured et amortized cost if it meets both of the foliowing conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

i} It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows;
and,
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iy Hs coniractual tarms give riss on specifiad dales to cash flows thal are solsly represant paymants of
principl and interest (SPPI).

A financial assel is measured et fair value through profit or loss if any of the following apply:

[} lts contractual lerms do nol give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are solety payments of principal
and interest {SPPI) on the principal amount cutstanding;

Iy It Is net held within a business model whase objective is sither 1o collect contractual cash flows, or to both
collect contractual cash flows and sall;

iily At infial recognition, it is imevocably designated ss messured st FVTFL when doing o eliminates or
significantly reduces a maasuremant or recognition inconsistency thal would otharwise ariss from
messuring assets or liabilites or recognising the gains and losses on them on diferent bases.

In asseasing whather the contractual cash fiows are SPPI, tha Seres Trust considers the contractual terms of the
instrument. This includes assessing whethar the financlal asset contains a coniractual lerm that could change the
timing or amount of comtracteal cash flows such thal it would nol meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Saries Trust considars:

- contingeni events that would change the amouni or timing of cash flows;

= leverage feaiures;

- prapayment and axiangion features;

- mﬂﬂhlhhﬂuTnﬂldﬂmhmhﬂmmmm{mg.nmmuj:

- faatures that modify conaideration of the tima valus of monay (e.g. pariodical resat of imterest rates).
The Series Trust has determinad thal it has two business models:

- Held4oc-collect business model: this incdudes cash and cash equivalents and receivables for
investmants scld Thesas financial asseds are hald to collect contractual cash flow.

- Other business modal: this includes financial asssts at fair value through profit or loas. These financial
assels are managed and their performance s evaluated, on a falr value basls, with frequent sales taking
place.

In making an assessmant of the objactive of the business modal in which a financial asset is hald, the Sedes Trust
considers all of the relevant infarmation about how the business is managed, including:

- tha documented investmant strategy and the axecution of this strategy in practice. This includes whethar
the investment siralegy focuses on eaming contractual interesl income, maintaining a parficular inlerest
rata profile, maitching the duration of the finencial assets to the duration of any related labilties or
axpacted cash outflows of realising cash flows through the sale of the essels:

- how the parformanca of the portfolio is evalualed and reported to the Series Trust's management;

- the risks thal affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those riske are managed:

= how the imnvestment manager is compensaied: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the
assats managed or the contraciual cash flows collected; and

- tha frequency, voluma and timing of sales of financial assets in prior parods, the reasons for such sales
and expectations about futume sales activily.

Transfers of financiel assets to third paries in fransaclions that do not qualify for derecegnition are not considered
sales for this purpose, consistent with the Sedes Trust's continuing recognition of the assets.
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Financial liabilities carried al amortired cost include payables for bank overdraft and othar Eabilites.

Im palrmarnt of Ainancial assets

Tha “sxpected credit loss™ (ECL) modal applies lo financial asssts measured at emordired cost and debl investment
st FWOCI, but not to investrants in equity instruments.

Basad on tha Saries Trust's assesamant, tha ECL modal doas not have a material impact on the Sariss Trust's
financial assets because:

- The majorty of the financial assets are measured at FVTPL and the Impalmment requirements do not apply fo such
instrurnents.

- Tha financial assels st amorfized cosi are short-temm (Le. no longer than 12 months), of high credit quality andfor
highily collateralized. Accordingly, tha ECLs on such sssels are axpected to ba small,

New standards, amandmants and Interpretations lssued but not effective for the year ended September 30,
2020:

A number of new standards end amendments o standards are effective for annual perods beginning after Oclober 1,
2018 and earlier application I8 permitted; however, the Sedss Trust has not eary applied these new or amanded
standards in preparing these financial statements a3 they do nol have a materal effect on the Series Trust's financial
stalemenis.

2.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Seres Trust considers all cash, foreign cash and shor-term deposits with original maturity of three months or
lags to ba cash and cash eguivalents. Bank ovardraft is ghown in liabilities in the Statemant of Financial Position.

At Septambar 30, 2020 and Seplambar 30, 2019, the Sedas Trust haid the following balances as cash and cash
equivalents:

Tirme depaal 4,213
Cash and caah equivalents In the Statemaent of Financlsl Poaltion 5 4,213 § 22

Bank overdrafl - 14
Cash and cash equivalents In the Statemert of Cash Flows § 4,213 § {88,937}

2.2 Financial Asssts and Lisbliltes

{A) Classification
Tha Series Trusl dassifies financial assets and liabiBties inbo the following categorias:

Financial assets i fair value through profil or loes:
* Mandatorly at FVTPL: Investment in Collsteralized Swaps.
Financial assets at fair value through profil or loas conskst of the following:

Seplombor 30, 2020 -  Septamber 30, 2020 -
Fair Valus Coat

Investrient in Collateraized Seaps ] 9,603,780 [ ] 9,578,786

Saptember 30, 2018 - Saptsmber 30, 2018 -
Fair Yalus Col
Investrrant in Collsteralized Swaps 5 14,361 471 ] 14 385,770
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Financial assets ot amortized cost
» Cash and cash equivalents and receivables for investments sold.

Financial llabllites st amorized cost
» Other labilities: bank overdraft and other liabilites.

(B) RecognitionDemecogniton

The Series Trust recognires financial assels and labliies on the dale it becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade dale - the dale
on which tha Saries Trusi commiis to purchasa or sall tha investment, Financial assats are derecognized whan the
rights to receiva cash flows from the imvestmants have axpired or the Sarias Trusl has transfered substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership. Financial labilities are derecognized when its coniraciual obiigations ame discharged,
cancalad or expined.

(C) Measuremant

Financial assels and Babiiies at fair value through profit or loss are intially recognized al fair value with transaction
cosis recognized in the Sistement of Comprahensive income. Subsaguant o iniial recognition, all financial assals
and liabilities at fair value through profil or losa are measured at fair value. Gaina and losses arising from changes in
the fair value of the ‘financial assets and liabilities al fair value through profit or loss’ calegory are presented in the
Statement of Comprehenaive Income in the pedod in which they arse. Realized gains or losses on ssle of
investiments are calculaled using first-in-first-out method.

Financial assets and liabilities other than those al fair value through profit or loss are camed at amortized cost using
the effactive intersst rats mathod, lass impainmant lossas, if any. This is considersd to approximate fir valus dus o
the short-term or immediate nature of these instruments.

(D} Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such sa publicly traded derdvatives and trading
securities) is based on quoled markel prices al the close of irading on the reparting date. Fair value is the price thal
would be recaived to sall an asset or paid to transfer a liabillty in an ordedy transaction betwesn market participants
al the measurement date. The fair value of a liabillity rellects its non-performance risk. Investments or other sesets for
which market quolations are not readily avallsbla are valued at thair fair value as determined in good faith in
sccordance with procedures adopted by the Trustes with advice from the Manager. The resulting change in
unrealized gains of losses ara reflectsd in the Statemant of Comprehansive Incoma.

(E) Invastmant in Collstoralired Swaps

The Trustes, in ks capacity as trustes of tha Seres Trust, enters imo Collaterslized Swaps transactions with the
Collateralired Swaps Counterparty, which are linked fo the performance of the Strategy for the account of the Seres
Trust. The trade date of the Collaterallzed Swaps was Septembaer 26, 2016 (the “Trade Date”) and the Collsteralized
Swaps are Australian Dollar denominated within approxdimately one year structure (which may be extended at the
dizcration of the Collateralizad Swaps Counterparty).

2.3 Receivables for Investments Sold and Payables for Investments Purchased
Receivables for Investments sold and payables for investments purchased represent trading transactions that have
bean contractad for but not yet sattied on the Stalement of Financial Position date, respectively. These amounts an
recognized initially and subssquanty maasurad at fair value, less provision for impairmant for amounts of receivablas
for investments sold. A provision for impairment is established when there is objective evidence thal the Senes Trust
will not ba abla to collect all amounts of receivables for investments sold. Significant financial difficulias of the broker,

that the broker will enter bankruplcy or financial reorganization, and default in payments are considered
indicators thal the amound of recaivables for investments sold is impaired.

2.4 Offasiting Financial Ingbruments

Financial assets and lisbilities are offeel and the nel amount reported in the Statement of Financial Position only
when there |s a legally enforceable right to offset the recognlzed amounts and there is an inlention to setle on a net
basis, or malize the assst and settle the Rablity simultanecusly. As at September 30, 2020 and Sepiembaer 30, 2019,
all inancial assels and liabilities ane shown at their gross amounts as none mel the crileria for financial instrument
offsatting, and therefore hava nol bean offssl in the Statement of Financial Posidon.

2.5 Exponses
Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis in the Stetement of Comprehensive income,
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2.6 Foreign Currancy Tranalation

(A) Functional and Presentation Cumency

The performance of the Seres Trust is measured and reported fo the investors in Australian Dollars. The Trusles
considers the Australian Dollar as the cumency thal most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
fransactions, avents and conditions of the Senes Trust. The financial stalemants are prasartad in Ausiralian Dollars,
which ia the Seres Trust's funclional and presentation cumancy.

(B} Transactions and Balances

Financial assets and liabiliies denominalad in foreign cumancies are iranslated in Australian Dollar amounts at the
date of valustion. Purchasas and sales of financial assets and liabilties, lasue and mpurchase of units and incoma
and expense items denominated in foreign currencies are lranslaled info Australian Dollar amounts on the respective
dates of such transactions.

Reported net realized or unrealized foreign exchange gains or lossas resulting from changes in foreign exchange
rates on financial assets and liabilities ot fair value through profit or loss are induded in net realized gain or loss on
financial asseis and Eabdities ai fair valus through profit or loss, and nal change in unrealized appreciation or
depreciation on financial assets and Babiites at fair value through profit or loss in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Realized and unrealized appreciation or deprecistion from foreign curmency transactions and transletion are disciosed
saparatsly in the Staternani of Comprehensive income.

2.7 Distributiona

The Stretegy may generate a certain amount of income each quarter. The cument policy of the Seres Trust is fo pay
fo unitholder a quarterly distribution in respect of sach distribution date of an amounl similar to the generated incoma
attributable to the comesponding distribution period.

The quarierly distribution is expected to be compuied from the following separete elements:

{fy an amount equal to the returmn from the performance of the Index and tha dividends or distributions pald by the
Strategy (nel of all applicable taxes); and

(i) interest accrued on the dividend or distribution amounts received from (1) above, untll paid cut on the
comaaponding distribution date (paragraphs (7) and (i) hereafter refermed to a8 the "Genarated Incoma™).

Tha amount of distribution paid in respect of each distribution date is determined by the Manager in its sole discretion
taking into account Generated Income, realized and unrealized capital gaing from the Strategy, and miscellansous
cosls, among other factors, per unit each quarter. The Manager may, in circumsiances where it deems appropriale,
slact thet & quartery distribution ia not payable in respect of units for a relevant quarer. Circumsiances whare the
Manager may make such an eleclion, include bul are not limited to where R determines in iis sole discretion that
application of the Serias Trust's investimeant objectives and policles have generated a negative parformance over the
previous quarter o have underperformed to the extent that the Manager deema i appropriste to make such an
slaction.

Diskributions declared and pald during the years ended Saptamber 30, 2020 and Seplembes 30, 2018 wers as
follows:

2020 2018
Total Amoasrt Total Amourt
ALD Class Linits H 20737 5 158,430
JPY Class Units 148,550 182,083

! 353 321 ! 380,613

2.8 Repurchases of Units

Tha Series Trust has two classes of units which ame repurchased at the holdar's option. The Seres Trust classifies ils
puttable instruments as liabilites in accordance with 1AS 32 (Amendment) 'Snoncial instruments: Presentation’,

The amendment requires putiable financial instruments that meal the definition of a financial Eability to be dasaified
a8 equity where certain strict arilaria are met. Those criteria include:

10

94/185



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements [continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)
» Tha puttable instrumarts must sntitke the holder to a pro-rata share of net assets;

= The puttable instruments must be the mosl subordinated clase and ciass features musl be identical;

= There must be no contractual obligations to deliver cash or ancther financial esset other than the obligation on
the Esuar to repurchase; and

* Tha tolal expeciad cash fiows from the puttable nstrument over its fifa must ba based substantially on tha profit
of losa of the issuer,

Tha Sares Trust's participating units do nol mast all of these conditons and ara accordingly classified as financial
liabilites at Seplamber 30, 2020 and Seplember 30, 2019.

Units can be pul back o the Series Trust at any ime for cash equal to a proportionale share of the Seres TrusPs Net
Assel Value,

Units are camied al ihe repurchased amount that is payable at the Statement of Financial Position date if the holder
exercises the right to put the units back inlo the Series Trust.

Units are izaued and repurchased at prices based on the Seriea Trusf's Net Aszset Value per unit af the time of izsue
or repurchase. The Seres Trust's Nel Assel Value per unit is calculated by dividing the net sssels atiributable to the
holder of sach class of units by the tolal number of outstending units for each respective class. Refer to Note 3 for
further discussion.

2.9 Indemnities

The Trustea and tha Manager, on bahalf of the Sedes Trusl, entar into certain contracta that contain a variety of
indamnifications. The Seriea Trust's maximum exposure under these arangements is unknown. However, the Seres
Trust has nol had prior claims of losses pursuant to these confracts and expects the risk of loss 1o be remote.

2.10 Receivables for Subecriptions of Unite and Payables for Repurchases of Units
Racaivabla for subscriptions of units is carried al the issuance amount that (s recaivabla st the Stalemen! of Financial

Position date. Payabile for repurchase of uniis is camied al the repurchase amound that is payable st the Statement of
Financial Position dale.

2.11 Net incoma from financial instruments at FVTPL

NMet incoma from financial instruments at FYTPL includes realired and unraaled gains/losses on financial assets
and liabilities and Genarated Income. Net realized gain or loss from financial instruments &t FVYTPL s calculated
using the first in, firsl out method. Net realized (loss)gain on financial assets and liabilittes gt FVTPL represents the
difference betwean the cost of the financial instrumants and its settlement price of the =ale trads.

Met change in unrealized (depreciation)/appredation on financial assets and liabilities at FYTPL represents the
difference between the camying amount of a financial instrumant at the beginning of the period, or tha transaction
price if it was purchased in the curment reporting period and its camying amount et the end of the reparting perod.

Inderast incorma is calculated using the effective intares! method and recorded on an accrual basis. Interest income
and expenss, where relevant presenied in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprise dividend on financial
assats and financial Rablities maasured al FVTPL. Interest incorne Is induded as part of Generaled Incoma. During
the years ended Septernber 30, 2020 and September 30, 2018, there was inlerest income of $353,821 and $308,387,
regpactively.

2.12 Taxstion

The Trust has received an undertaking from the Cayman |slands Govemment exempling it from all local income,
profits and capital gains taxes until December 2, 20683, No such taxes ame levied in the Cayman Islands st the present
fime.

Tha Sanes Trust could incur withholding laxes imposed by cerlsin countries on invesimant income and capital gaing.
Such income or gain would be recorded gross of withholding taxes in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Withholding texes would be shown as a separale ilem in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Mo withholding
tax expanae was paid for the years anded Saptamber 30, 2020 and Saptembar 30, 2018, reapectivaly.

1"

95/185



EDINETOOOO

DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)

Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements [continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

Ooooooooooooooooooad

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

Tha Sanas Trust may chooss to invest in sacurities domiciied in countries other than the Cayman Islands. Many of

these foreign countries have tax laws which indicate that

capital gains taxes may be applicable to non-residents

including the Series Trust These capitel geins texes are required to be determined on a seif-assessment basis and,

therefore, such taxes may not be deducted by the Series Trust's broker on a “withholding” basis.

In accordance with LAS 12 incoma Taxas, tha Sanias Trust is reguired to recognize a tax labilty whan it is probable
that the tax lews of foreign countries require a tax liability o be assessed on the Serdes Trust's capital gains sounced
frem such forsign country, assuming the melevart tedng asuthorties hawe full knowladga of all the facts and
circumstances, The tax liability is them measured al the amount expecied to be paid to the relevant taxation
authorities using the tax lews and refes thal have been enacted or substanlively enacled by the end of tha raporting

yoar. Thars is somatimas

about the way anactsd tax law is appliad to offshore investman] Seras Trusls.

This creates uncertainty about whether or not & tax lability will ultimalely be paid by the Seres TrusL Therefore,

when measuring any uncartsin tax lmbilities

congiders all of the relevant facts and circumstancas

managemant
available al the time which could influence the likelihcod of payment, including any formal or informal practices of the

relevant tax authorities.

As al Saptember 30, 2020 and Seplember 30, 2019, the Manager has delermined thal the Saries Trust did not have
a limbility to record for any unrecognized tax benefits in the accompanying financial statements. While thia represents
the Manager’s best eslimate there remains a risk that the foreign tax authorities will attempl to collect taxes on capilal
gains samed by the Seres Trust. This could happen withoul giving prior warning, possibly on a retrospective basia,

and could resull in @ loes to the Series Trust.
3. REPURCHASES OF UNITS

The Net Asset Value of each unit of the Series Trust is caloulated by dividing the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust
by the tolal number of units of the Sares Trusi than outstanding. The Administrator computes the Net Asset Value of

the Series Trusl al the close of business on each dealing day.

This prica of units, for all purpeses, in respect of ALUD Class Units is calculated and pald in Australian Dollars and in

respect of JPY Class Units, in Yen.

The minimum initial subscription must be no less than 1 unil and orders may not include fractions. All unitholders
must complete a subscriplion applicalion. The initial purchasa price for AUD Class Unils is 5100 per unit and for JPY
Class Units Is ¥1,000 per unit, respectively. All payments in respect of AUD Class Units, must be made in Australian
Dodlars and in respact of JPY Class Units, must be made in Yen. The Trustes may raject any subscription for any

reasen and without providing reascns,

After the inial issue of units, an sligible investor may subscribe for units on any subssquant subacripion date st the
relevant subscription price. All peymenis in respect of AUD Class Unite, ehall be made in Australian Dollars and in
ragpact of JPY Clags Units, shall be mads in Yen, The Trustes may nject any subscriplion for any reason and

without providing reasona.

The Trustee or its duly designated agent mus! recaive the subscription price for the units on or prior fo 2:00 pm.
applications

(Lendan time) by no laler than the second business day afler the relevant subscripion date. Subscription
imervocable.

Tha tolal net assels, units outstanding and nel assels value per unil as of Saptember 30, 2020 were as follows:

Mot Asset Valuo par
Classen of units Total nat sssats LUnits unit
ALUD Class Uinks E,817.702 620§ B8.EEE
JPY Claas Units A0BB 325 350,173 11,665

§ 9,604,027 412,403

12

96/185



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements [continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

Tha total net assats, units cutstanding and nel assels valua par unil as of Saptembar 30, 2019 ware as follows:

Hat Azsst Value por
Classsos of units Total net sssats Units unit
ALD Class Units 5 BET7.088 Tredg 5 111,748
JPY Class Units 5584 B4 287,273 14,879

§ 14381790 [T

The operational currency of the units is the Ausiralian Dollar,

Az of Seplembar 30, 2020 and Saplambar 30, 2010, all issusd units wade hald by one unitholdsr, wha holds 100% of
interest in the net assets.

A unitholder may transfer its holdings in units only with the prior written consent of the Trustes which consent shall
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. No transfer of units will be effective and binding on the Truslee or
urnitholdar untl antered into the Sares Trust's register of unitholdars.

Each unithaldar may submit io the Trustes or its duly cesignated agent a repurchases notics requesting to have all or
a portion of its units repurchased al the Repurchase Price on the relevant repurchase date. Repurchase orders may
ba submitied in elther the relevant curmency or in units. If such notice is not in reapect of the entine holding units of
such unitholder recorded in the register of unitholders then the Trustee in its sole discretion may apply 8 minimum
repurchase requirement of 1 unit. Repurchase notices are imevocable.

At the tima of ssch repurchase of units prior to the Final Repurchasa Day, no repurchase fee is applied to sach unit

being repurchased.

Amounts payable to the unitheolder in connection with the repurchase of unils of any cleas s paid in cash but may be
mada in kind (or partially in kind) by the distribution of sacurifies heid by the Trusies fo the scdent that the Trusles, in
consultation with the Manager, determines it to be in the best interests of the unitholder. I such a determination is
made by the Trustes, distributions to all repurchasing unitholdars on he sama day is made on the same basis.

Payment may also be made in such other curmency thet may be freely purchased with such applicable currency as
& unithokier may request, provided that any foreign exchange cost shall be deducted from the amount payabls lo
such unitholder. No such repurchase proceeds will bear interest prior to actual distribution.

During the years ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2018, the proceads from units issued, repurchased
and cutstanding wera as fiol lows:

At Procesds from units Proceads from unlts At
Claases of units Saptamber 30, 2010 laauad rapurchassd Sapiember 30, 2020
ALID Class Linits ] TAT2190 3 455464 5 (2093870 5§ 6,373,784
JPY Class Units 5877, T80 - (481,157) 5,188,803
Total $ 13840950 § 496458 5 (3p85027) § 11500387

At Proceads from units Procesds from units At
Clinsas of units September 30, 2018 insuad repurchassd _ Seplember 30, 2019
AUD Class Linits E G4385T0 § 3252811 5 1.7me8,181) % 7.972,190

JPY Class Uinits 9,815,371 - (8,137,811} 5,677,760
Total $ 1eamaa § 3252811 % (5,858 802} 13,840,080
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During the years andad Saptembar 30, 2020 and Saptember 30, 2019, e number of wnits issued, repurchasad and
outstanding were as follows:

At Al
Classsa of units Soptember 30, 2018 Units lssuad Unita repurchased __Sapismbaer 30, 2018
ALD Clasa Units &4,147 26,565 (18,083) T7.848
P Class Linits BER.E18 — {302, 345) S8TATY
Total 783,788 2,50 [318,438) CC

The issue and repurchase of units and payments in respect of such trensactions will be suspended in any
circurmnstances whesa the calculation of the Net Assal Vialue per unit is suspandad. The Trustes will inform unitholder
of such a suspension as soon as praclicable after i s imposed or [Med. Subscription applications and repurchase
natices cannot be withdrawn during such suspension and will be processad for the next subscription dale or
repurchasa date, as the case may ba.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Managemen! makes estimates and assumptions concemning the future that affect the reporied amounts of assets and
lisbditas. Estimates are continually svalusted and bassd on historcal axparisnce and other factors, incuding
expeciations of future events that are believed o be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting
estimatas will, by definition, seldom equal the ralated actual results. The Sedes Trust may, from tima 1o time, hold
financial instruments that are not quoled in active markets, such as over-the-counter derivatives. Fair values of such
instruments are determined by using valuation lechniques. YWhare valuation techniques (for exampls, models) are
usad to determine falr valuas, they are validated and perodically reviewad by the Manager.

5. FINANCIAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

5.1 Principal Risk Factors of the Serdes Trust

The Seres Trust's investmen! portfolis comprises the Collateralized Swaps. The Series Trusts activities expose it 1o
a variety of Sinancial risks: markel risk (including curmancy risk, interast rate risk and price risk), cradit risk and bguidity
risk. The management of these riaks is carmed out by the Manager under policies approved by the Trustee.

The Series Trust uses differen] methods lo measure and manage the various types of risks lo which it is exposed,
these methods are explained below.

{A) Market Risk

(1) Currency Risk

Collateralized Swaps transactions in which the Sares Trust invests may be denominated or quoied in cumendies
ciher than the functional currency of the Seres Trusl, For this reason, changes in foreign cumency exchange rates
can affect the value of the Series Trust's portfolio.

Generally, when the Seres Trusts funclional curmency rises in value against another curmency, a security
danaminatad in that currancy loses value bacauss tha curmency is worln kess giving effect to the convarsion into the
Series Trust's funchonal currency, Conversely, when the Series Trusfs funclional cumency decreases in value
againsl another curmancy, umﬁdﬂmﬁnﬁdlntﬁmgﬂmwu

This risk, genarally known as "curmancy risk,” means that a sirong functional curmancy of the Saries Trust may reduce
retuma to investors while a weak functional cummency of the Saries Trust may increass thosa retuma. Currency rates

may fluctuate significantly over shori pericds of tme for a number of reasons, incuding changes in interest rates,
intervention (or the faiure to intervensa) by the govemmants, central banks or supranational entiies such sa the
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Intsmational Monatary Fund, or by tha imposition of curmancy controls or other palitical develapmerts. As a result, the
Series Trust's investments in foreign-curmency denominated securities may reduce its retums. Cedain positions taken
by the Series Trust are designed lo profit from forecasting curmency price movements. Predicling fulure prices is

uncertain and the lossas incumed, H the market moves against a position, will not be hedged. The
speculative aspect of attempting to predict absolute price movements is generally perceived fo exceed that involved
in attempting to predict relative prics fluctuations.

Through the use of various types of forelgn currency transactions, the Serias Trust or classas thereof, aa applicabla,
may be exposed to the performance of a particular cumency or cumencies fo contribute to the performance of the
Serias Trusl or class. There can ba no assurance thal the Manager will employ a succassful currency program and
the Serea Trusi or class could incur losses attributable to fs cumency acthities whan the value of tha funclional
curmency weakens against the other cumencies of the Seres Trust or classes. In addition, the Seres Trust or class
will incur lransaction costs in connection with the cumency strategy designatad by the Manager.

The table below summarizes the Seres Trusl's exposuns 1o curmency risks as of Seplember 30, 2020

Cther
Ansetn
Gash and
Aa of Saplambor 30, and cash Collatoraltzed Llsbifitias Naot % of
2030 squivalents Swaps [Net) _Amsots Mot Assots
Japanase Yen JPY 5 3ae0 % 4,063,000 § (3.066) % A 062 974 42 3%
United States Dollar USD 200 o - 200 0.0%
4,120 4,083,000 {3,988} 4,083 174 ALY%
Australlan Dollar AUD [E] 5,540,780 - 5 540 BS3 ET.T%
] 4111 § BE0ITED 3§ [3.088) 3 5,804 027 100.0%

Th tabile balow summartzes tha Seres Trust's exposurs to currency risks as of Seplermber 30, 2018:

Other
Asaats
Cash and
Az of Seplember 30, and cash Collateralired Liabilitdes Net % of
019 equlvalents Swaps [Met) Anpms Nt Ansaty
Japanase Yen Y § = § 5558484 48) % 5,550,448 30.4%
United States Dollar  USD M2 - - M2 0.0
2 5,550, 404 48] 5,858 858 A%
fustralon Dollar~ AUD - 8,701,977 25 8,702,072 BO.6% _

] 22§ 14,381,471 3§ 78 14,381,730 A00.0%

The following table summarizes the sensitivity of the Seres Trust's assets and liabilities o changes in foreign
exchange movements al September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2016. The analysis is based on the assumptions
that the rslevanl foreign edchangs e increased{decransed) againsl the Ausiralian Dollar by the parcentages
disclosed in the table, with all other varables held constant. This represents management's bes! estmate of
a reasonably possible shift in tha foreign exchange rates, having regand o historical volatility of thoss raies.

Reasonably
possible shift in impact to Serios Trust
Curmency curmency rate 2020 Het Assots
JoY +- 4. 54% +- 184,459
uso + BEZ% e 14
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Rsunonshly
possible shift In Impact to Serles Trust
Currency currency rats 2019 Mot Asgots
P - 11.33% - 641,215
ush +i- BE1% +- 14
(i) Irtevest Rabe Risk

Tha majority of the Series Trust's financial assets and Eabiities are non-interes! bearing. Inlerest bearing assets held
by the Seres Trusl are comprised of cash and cash eguivalents whose malurity s less than three months.
As a result, the Seres Trust is not subject to any significant risk dua to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market
interest rabes.

Under the Collateralized Swaps, the Series Trust pays Collaterslized Swaps Counterparty LIBOR + spread, while it
racaives tha paformance of ASS1Prop Indax from Collaleralized Swaps Counterparty. LIBOR Is resst monthly,

(iii} Market Price Risk

The market prica of securities owned by the Series Trust may go up or down, sometimes rapidly or unpredictably.
Securities may deciine in value due o feclors affecting securities markels generally or particular industries
reprasantad in the securities markats. The valua of a security may decline dus to general market conditions which ara
not specifically releted to a particular company, such a3 real or perceived adverse economic conditions, supply and
demand for particular sacurities or instrumants, changes in the gensral cutiook for corporale eamings, changas in
interest or cumency rates or adverse Inwvestor sermtiment. They may also decline due to factors which affect
a particular industry or industries, such as labor shortages or increased production costs and competitive conditions
within an industry. During a general downtum in the sacurites markets, multiple ssset classea may dacline in valua
simultanecusly, Equity securities generally have greater price volalility than fixed income securities,

Price risk s the sk that the value of the investment will luctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
caused by faciors spacific to the Stratagy or factors affecting all instruments traded in tha market.

As the Seres Trust's invesimeants ans carmied al fair value with fEir value changes recognized in tha Statement of
Comprehensive Income, all changes in markel conditions wil direcly sffect the total net assels and ftolal
comprehensive Incame.

A 1% increase in the Stralegy prices al Seplember 30, 2020 and Seplermber 30, 2019, would have increased the net
assats sttributable to the holder of units by 596,038 and $143,815, respactivaly. A decreass of 1% would have
resulted in an equal but opposite effect.

(B) Cradit Risk

Tha Sanas Trust lakes on exposurs o credil rek, which is the rsk that a counterparty will be unabls to pay amounis
in full when they fall due. Impaiment provisions are provided for losses that have been incumed by the Statement of
Financial Position date, if any.

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty to a financial instrument will fall to dscharge an obligation or commitment that
it has emered into with tha Seres Trust. The Manager determinea concaniration risk in relstion to exposure lo
individual counterparties. Al the Statement of Financal Position date, the entire netl assels are held by the

Collateralired Swaps Countarparty.

The Collaleralized Swaps Counlerparty has charged collalecal 1o the Trusisa for the benefit of the unitholder and the
Trustea has recourse o such collaleral in the event of a faillure by the Collsteralized Swaps Countarparty to parform
its paymenl and other cbligations under the Collateralized Swaps. However, there s no guarantee that the value of
the collateral realtred will be sufficient to meal the Collalerallzed Swaps Countarparty’s payment obligations under
Ihe Collaleralized Swaps.

Where the value of the collateral decreaszes below the predetermined collateral coverage, the agreement requires
ihe Collateralized Swaps Counterparty to post additional collateral As st Seplember 30, 2020 and Seplember 30,
2018 the Series Trust's collateral value were 308,840,450 (USHG.016,243) and $14,621278 (US59,861,321),
respaclively.
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Tha cradil riek s mitigated by undertaking transactions with reputable financial insthdions and countsrmparties.
;:::hmgwmmhﬁthymﬂmﬂmuﬂgnﬂ;mﬂﬂm&umﬁmndnﬂmmmm

The medmum exposure to credit risk of all finencial assels as of September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2018 is the
carmying amounts as shown on the Statemant of Financial Position, without laking inlo account tha nat realzable
value of collataral, where charged. None of these assets are impaired or past due.

The clearing and depository operations for the Series Trust's security transactions are mainly concentraled with the
Cusiodian, with a Fifch credit rating of A+. The Collateralized Swaps ara antered into with Credil Suisse Infernational,
with a Moody's credit rating of A1 at Septembar 30, 2020 and Saptarnber 30, 2018,

At Septamber 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, all cash and cash equivalents wers placed in custody with the
Cusiodian.

(C) Liquidkty Risk
Liquidity risk exists whan paricular imestmenis are dificult to purchase or sell. The Seres Trust's immestmenis in

iliquid sscurities may reduce the retums of the Seres Trust because it may be unable to sell the Biquid securities ot
an advantageous time or price. To the extent that the Sedes Trust's principal investment strategies involve non-
daveloped country securities and sacuriies with subslantial market andfor credil risk, the Series Trusi will tend o
have the greales! exposure lo liguidity riek. The Series Trusl's invesiments are not traded in en organized market and
may be llliquid. As a resull, the Seras Trust may not be able to quickly liquidste its Investments in these instruments
at an amount close to their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements.

The Sedes Trust's constitution provides for the daily cancellation of units and it is therefore exposed o the liquidity
rigk of meeting a unitholder's repurchass at any time if it 2 unable fo sell sufficient investments to meat the
repurchase amounl Unils are repurchased on demand al the holder's option. However, the Trustes does not
envisage that this contractual maturty disciosed will be representative of the actual cash oulfiows, as holders of these
instrurnaerits hypically retain them for tha madium o kbrg temn,

The Managar monitors the Series Trust's liquidity posiSion on an ongoing basis. Financial Eabilities have residual
contrectual maturities of less than three months. Liquidity risk is managed by investing no more than 15% of the
Series Trust's Net Assat Valus in iiguid assats which cannol ba readily realized. The lotal value of sacuribes solkd
short shall not at any time exceed the Net Asset Value of the Series Trust.

The tables below analyze the Series Trust's financial iabiliies into relevant meturity grouping based on the remaining
pariod at the Siatement of Financial Position dale 1o the contractual malurity date. The amounts in the lablas ara the
contractual undiscounted cash fows.

At Saplamber 30, 2020 Laas than 1 month 1 - 3 months Total
Other lablkies 5 ASE 5 - § 3 866
Contractual cash out ficws (excluding

not assate sitributable to the holder of

units) 3 3988 ¢ =3 3,988
At Beptamber 30, 2018 Lass than 1 month 1 - 3 montha Tetal
Bank averdraft 5 67145 % - 5 &7,149
Contractual cash out fiows (excluding

not assets sttributabls to the holder of

unita} ] LA - & AT 140
(D) Risk Managament

The Series Trusfs imvestment Manager’s team is supporied by certain risk management systeme and professionals,
which provide regular reporting on al partfolio positiona and quantitative risk measures. Prospactive investors should
be aware thal no risk management system is faill-safe, and no essurance can be given thet risk frameworks employed
by the Manager {6.0., stop-win, stop-logs, sharpa rafios, loss limits, value-al-risk or any other methodology now

known or laler developed) will achieve their objectives and prevenl or othersise limit substantial losses. No

17

101/185



EDINETOOOO
DOo00oOOo0ooDo00oo00Do00DoO0Ooo(ELs389)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Australla REIT Fund
Motes to Financlal Statements [continued)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2020

(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

assurance can ba given thal the risk management systams and techniques or pricing modals will accuralely pradict
future trading patterns or the manner in which investments are priced in financial markets in the future,

(E) Capital Risk Management

The capital of the Series Trus! is represented by the net essets afiributable (o the holder of units. The amount of net
asaats afiribitabile to the holder of units can change significantly on a daily basis as the Sares Trust is subjact 1o
daily subscriptions and repurchases at the discretion of the unitholder, The Seres Trust's objective when managing
capital is 1o safeguard the Serdes Trust's ability fo continue a8 a8 going concam in order to provide rslums for tha
unitholder and benefits for other stekeholders and o maintain a strong capital base io supporl the development of the
imvestmiant activides of tha Seres Trust. In ordar to mainiain or adjust the capital struciune, the Series Trust's policy is
io parform tha following:

» Monitor the leval of daily subscriptions and repurchases relative to the fiquid assels and adjus! the amount of
distributions the Series Trusl pays io the holder of units.

* Repurchase and issue new units in accordance with the constitutional documents of the Series Trusl.,
The Manager monitors capial on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to the holder of units.
5.2 Additional Series Trust's Risks

{A) Custody Risk

MWeither the Trustes nor the Manager controls the custodianship of the Series Trusf's entire holding of securties. The
Custodian o other banks of brokacags finme saleclad 1o act &8 cuslodians may bacome inBolvent, cauting the Senes
Trust to loae all or & portion of the funds or securities heid by these custodiana.

(B) Risk of Indemnification

The Trustee, the Manager, the Administrator, the Cuslodian, and other parties, and each of their respective agents,
principals, officars, amployaes, and affilistes are entidad to ba indemnifiad out of the assals of the Sares Trust undar
certain circumstances which may result in a decrease in Net Asset Value per unit.

(C) Settlement Risk

Setflement and clearance procedures in certain foreign markets differ significantly from those in the United States,
ihe Eurcpean Unlon and Japan. Forsign ssidement and clearance procedures and irads regulations also may involve
certain rfisks (such as delays in payment for or delivery of securities) not typically sssociated with the setfiement of
Unitad States investments. Al imas, satiements in coain fmgn countriss hive nol kepl pace with the numbar of
aacurities transactions. Thesa problems may make it difficult for the Manager to camy out transactiona for tha account
of the Series Trusl.

If the Manager cannol setfle or s delayed in sefiing a purchase of underlying secwrities, § may miss atiractive
imvastmant oppoartunitias and carain of the Sedes Trusl's assals may be uninvestad with no retum eamed thareon ke
some year. If the Manager cannct setthe or s delayed in setfing a sale of securities, the Seres Trust may lose money
if the valua of tha security then declines or, if it has contractad to sall the security to another parly; the Sedes Trust
could be liable for any losses incurred.

(D) Countarparty and Broker Risk
The finanche institutions and counterparties, including banks and brokerage firme, such as the Custodian, with which

the Manager or its delegata tradesa or invests for the account of the Saries Trusl, may encounter financial dificultes
and default on their respective obligations owed in respect of the Sares Trust Any such default could result in
material losses lo the Seres Trust. In addition, the Manager may pledge collateral for the account of the Seres Trust
fo the counterparties in order to secure cartein transactions.

Tha Seres Trust has nol offset any financial asssts or liablities in the Staternent of Financial Position and did not
hald any dervalive assels.

(E) Generated Income and Distributions

Thare is no guarantes that there will be any Generated Incoms. Disiribulions may be paid in whole or in part oul of
imvestment principal attributable to the units or, atematively, the Generated Income may be zero. A distribution can in
affact resull in & refum of an invesiors initial capital or capital gaing thereby eroding that capital fo the edent the

distribution exceeds available income. In consegquence of this possibilty, investors seeking capital preservation may
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Collateralized Swaps Counferparty, any underdying assst linked io the Collateralived Swaps or any servica provider o
the Collateralired Swaps Courterparty. In onder to offsel (whethar in whole or in parf) Fs kabiity under the
Collateralized Swaps, the Collaleralized Swaps Counlerparty or a third party may own an interest (direclly or
indiractly} in the undarying asasts compriging the relevant strategy cortained in the Collateralized Swaps, howaver,
there is no requirement that any such person must maintain such an interest or as to the size of any such inlerest.

(G) Early Termination of the Serles Trust
tha Final Repurchase Day of the Seres Trust is scheduled for September 16, 2021, the Final Repurchase
Dy will be brought forward ahould a Compulsory Repurchase Event oocur.

(H) Other Riak

During the year, the COVID-19 outbreak wes declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The situation is
dynamic with various cities and courriries around the worid responding in different ways to addrass the outbreak. The
rapid development and fluidity of this situation precludes any prediction as #s ulimate impact, which may have a
continuad advarss impact on sconomic and markst conditions and trigger a padod of ghobal aconarmic alowdowrn.

Managemant and the Trustees are monitoring developments relating to COVID-18 and are coordinating its
operational response based on edsting busineas continuity plans and on guidance from global health organizations,
relevant govemments, and general pandemic response best practioes.

§.3 Fair Value Estimation and Hierarchy Designation
Tha Sares Trust applies IFRS 13, "Fair veive measurement’ and utilizes the lasl iradad market prica for its fair
valuation inputs for both financial assets and liabilities.

An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liabillty take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Tha fair value of financial assels and liabifties thal ame not traded in an active market is detemined by using valuation
lachniques. Tha Sardes Trust uses a vanaty of methods and makes assumptions that afe based on market conditions
exdsling et sach period end date. Valuation techniques used for non-standardized financial instruments such as
options, cumency swaps and othar over-the-countar derivatives, include the use of comparable recant arm's langth
irensactions, reference o other insruments thel are substentially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option
pricing modals and other valuation techniques commonly used by markel participants making the maximum usa of
marks! inputs and relying as ktte as possible on entity-specific inpuls.

For instruments for which there is no active markel, the Series Trust may use intemally developed models, which are
usually based on valuation methods and lechniques generally recognized s standard within the indusiry. Some of
tha inputs to thesa models may not be markel obsarvable and ane therefore estimated based on assumpticns.

Tha output of a moded is always an sstimate or approximation of a valus that cannot be determinad with certairty,
and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the Series Trust holda,
Valuations are thevefore adjusted, wheoe approprate, lo allow for addiional faciors including model rsk, liguidity dek
and counterparty risk.

Tha Senes Trust clasaifies fair value maeasurements using a fair valus hisrarchy that reflects the signficance of the
inputs used in making the measursments.
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Tha fair value hisrarchy has the following levals:

. m1mmqmﬂmmﬂmhmmmM|mmmwmmmm
can sccess at the measurement date

- mz.mmmmmmmpnmmmmmm 1 that are observable for tha assat
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

= Level 3 impuls are uncbservable inpuls for the asset or liability.

mmanmmwwmmmmmmmhmmmmmh
datermined on tha basiz of the lowest level input that is significant lo the fair value measuremant in its mﬂnly

maasursment in fts saticety requires judgment, considering faclors spacific o the assat or ability.

The delermination of what constibtes ‘observeble’ reguires significanl judgment by the Adminisirator, under
advisemert of the Manager. The Administrator, under advisemant of the Manager, considers obsarvable data to be
that market deta that is readily svailable, regulardy distributed or updated, refiable and verfiable. not propdetary, and
provided by indepandent sources that ans actvely invahwed in the rslsvant market,

Tha following is & summary of the fir valuations according to the inputs used as of September 30, 2020 in valuing
the Series Trusfs financial assels:

{Unadjusted) Quoted

Prices In Actve

Markots for idontical  Significant Other Significant Falr Valweo at
Financial Asssts st Falr Valus Investmaits Dbesrvable Inputs Unobearvible Inputs Seplamber 30,
Jhrough Profit or Loss {Lovel 1) [Lovel 3) [Lovel 3) 2020
Investrmant in Collaterakred § = ] 8,603,780 5 - 5 8,603, 780
F sssoty at
through profit or loss $ - § senaye0 0§ - § 9803780

The following is a summary of the fair valuations sccording to the inputs used es of September 30, 2019 in valuing
the Saries Trusfs financial asseis:

{Unadjusted) Quoted
Frices In Acthve

Markots for ldentical  SignMicant Othor Significant Falr Vil st
Financial Azsets st Fair Valus Imvestmants Obssrvable inputs  Unobservabile inputs  Septamber 30,
Through Proflt or Loss {Lavad 1) [Lonvel 2} [Level 3} 2020
Irvesirment in Collsteraimed Swaps ] = [ 14,381 471 3 = ] 14 351 4T1
Finenclal sssets st fair valus
through profit or loss § = § 14381471 ] - 5 142381471

Dwring the years ended Sapternbar 30, 2020 and Seplamber 30, 2019 thare wera no ransfers between Lavals 1, 2
and 3,

Financial instruments that irade in markets that are nol considersd to ba active but are valued basad on quoted
markel prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable inputs ane classtfied within
Lavad 2. Thasa inchude over-the-counter derivatives. As Lavel 2 invesimeants indude positions thal are not traded in
active markets and/or are subject fo transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect (Bquidity andfor non-
fransferability, which are genarally based on available market information,

Invesiments classified within Level 3 have significant unobsenvable inputs, as they trade infrequently.
As of September 30, 2020 and Septembaer 30, 2018, the Seres Trust did not hold invesiments classtfied as Level 3.

Valuation of the Collateralired Swaps is determined in accordance with the valuation modsl stated in Appandix 22 to
the Offering Memorandum. Refer to Note 2.2 (D) for further details,
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Financial assots and liabilitios not carried at fair valus through profit or loss

{1} Al Seplember 30, 2020 and September 30, 2018, cash and cash equivalenis and all other assels and
lisbllites {including receivables for investments sold, bank overdraft and payables for other liabilides) are
deemed short-lerm financial assets and labilites whose carmying amounts approdimale fair value because of
thair shor-term nature. Refar lo Note 2 for a dascription of the valustion techniquas.

(i} MNet assels atiributable to the holder of uniis. The Series Trust repurchases and issues tha unils at the
amount equal to the proportionate share of net assels of the Seres Trusl al the time of repurchase,
calculaled on a basis consigtent with thal usad in thess financial statements. Accordingly, the camying
amount of net assets atiributable to the holder of units appraximates thalr fair value,

6. COLLATERALIZED SWAPS

The Series Trust invests in the Collaleralized Swaps, the value of which ia linked to the performance of the Strategy
for the acocount of the Series Trusl. Fluctuations in value are recorded as unrealized gain or loss. On the lermination
date, the Saries Trusl will receive a payment from the counterparty basad on the value of ihe referenced security and
recond & realized gain or losa. Structured products ane subject to varnous risks discussed in Nobe 5.

AUD Cisss Units - Collstsraltzed Swap Outstanding at Septomber 30, 2020: (57.7% of Net Assets)

Unreallzed
Stratagy Expirstion Date ____ Counterparty Fair Valus Depreclation
Australian REIT Indest Strateqy BMO2021 Cradit Sulsss Iremational 5 5,540,760 5 14,783
JPY Clazs Unita - Collsteralized Swap Cutstanding at Saptember 30, 2020: (42.7% of Net Azssts}
Unireallzed
Strategy Explration Date ___Counterparty Fuir Vaiue Doprociation
Australian REIT Indeex Strategy B 0202 Credit Sulsse Imemational S 4,063 020 5 10,201
AUD Class Units - Collaterlized Swap Outstanding st September 30, 2015: (80.8% of Net Ansets)
Unreallzod
Stratagy Expliration Date Counterparty Falr Valus Dopraciation
Australian REIT Indix Strategy SMo2021 Credit Buiase Imemational S 8,701,977 5 (3,368)
JPY Class Unlts - Collaterallzed Swap Outstanding at Septemnber 30, 2018; (39.4% of Net Asapts)
Ururaadized
Strategy Expiretion Date Countiwparty Fair Valus Dapraciaton
Australian REIT Index Strategy BM02021 Credit Suisss Intemetional 5 5,850 454 3 830y

7. NET GAIN ON INVESTMENTS IN COLLATERALIZED SWAFS

September 30, 2030 _Saplembar 30, 2HS

Mt (loss)fgain on financial assets and labilities at BRir vahse
wough profit and loss consist of the following:
Mot ealized (loss)'gain on investments in Collaleralized

Swaps L] (2887423} § 1,383,753

Total net realred (losa)gain on financial saxets and Eabilties at

Fadr value through profit or loas 5 [2E8T427) § 1,383 753
Movement in unreakzed appreciation on imestment in

Collateralized Swaps $  Jeges § 20295588

Total net change In unresltred appreciation on financlal assats
and labdities &t fair value through profit or loss. 5 28,263 ] 2045 585
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(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

In respact of a repurchasa of units of the Collateralized Swaps on any repurchase day, the Trusisa agress Io
decrease the notional amourt proportionately to the number of unite repurchased in the Series Trust and the

Collateralized Swaps Counterparty is authorized by the Truslee to decresse the notional amount of this transaction
accordingly.

For aach unit repurchased in the Seres Trust the Repurchased Amount par unit is calculated as follows:
(Motional Amount par unit) x (the Strategy Unit Leval)

Whers:

"Motional Amourt per unit® means the number of nolional amount per unit calculated on each calendar day after the
Effactve Date;

"tha Strategy Unit Level™ maans the numbar calculaled by tha Calculation Agent in respect of any dealing day.

The Repurchased Amount per unit is calculated by the Calculation Agent 8s of such dealing day and provided to the
Trustee as soon as reasonably practicable after such dealing day.

8. FEES, EXPENSES AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

B.1 Feea and Expensss

(A) Administrator Foos

The Administrator receives an annual fee of 0.03% of net assets subject to an annual minimum monthly fee
US$3,333. This is pald by tha Fea Agant using the Opedational Costs Fes. The Administrator is also antitied
reimbursements from the Cperational Cosis Fea for all oul-of-pocket expenses properdy incumed by it in
performance of its duties.

(B) Custody Feea

Tha Cuslodian recaives an asset based faa and transactional charges depandent on marksl demographics of tha
assets, paid by the Fee Agent using the Operational Costs Fee, for providing custody services, The Custodian is also
entitied to relmbursamanis from the Operational Cosls Fee for all out-of-pockel expensas propedy incumed by i in
the performance of its duties.

(C) Transfer Agert Fess

The Transfer Agert receives an annual fee of 0.01% of net assels and a $10 fee per transaction. This is paid by the
Fea Agent using the Operational Costs Fea.

8.2 Related Party Transactions

i5g

Parties are considerad to ba related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
imfluence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. The Trustes, Fee Agent, Manager,
Collateralized Swaps Counterparty, Agent Member Company, Distribulor and Manager Support Service Provider are
all related parties to the Series Trusl

Thare ware no other transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of business.

(A) Truates Fods
The Trustee is entitfed to receive & fixed annual fee of LISF10,000 per annum payable annually in advance which is
pald by the Fea Agant using tha Operational Costs Fes. All proper out-of-pocked axpensss and disbursamants
incurred on behalf of the Saeres Trust are alas reimbursad to tha Trustes from the Cperational Costs Fes. The fees
eamed by the Trustee during the years ended Seplember 30, 2020 and September 30, 2018 and outstanding foes
payabla fo the Trustes as of September 30, 2020 and Septenber 30, 2019, if any, have besn discosed in the
MMMMMIMWMMMWW respectively, s a parl of Fee agent
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(Exprassad in Ausfralian Doflars)

(B) Foa Agent Foos

The Trustee has emered into & fee agent appointment
Agent has undertaken to pay, for the account of the Series Trusl, cerisin ongoing and operafional cosls and
expenses of tha Seres Trust (the "Ordinary Costs”). The fees

Seplember 30, 2020 and Seplernber 30, 2018 and culstanding fees payable lo the Fee Agent as of September 30,
2020 and Septermber 30, 2019, if any, have bsen discicaad in the

Statement of Financial Position, respectively. Fee agent fees include the formation expenses, manager fees, trustee

3
;
3
i
E
i
:

Hﬂ.hmﬂe;uﬂnﬂmﬂdhﬁakm&dﬁbﬂﬂnﬁdmﬂmmmmm
{)  audiing costs thal are not included in ths aud feas and axpanses;
(i}  annual feaa payabbe in respect of the Saries Trust or tha Trust to govemment bodies and agencies; and
@iy insuranca costs (if any).

For the avoidance of doubl, the Fes Agent is nol responsible for the paymant of any feas related o the Collateralized
Swaps, any broker fees nelating to security transactions, any taxes relating to the purchase or disposal of securities,
legal or compensation costs, any communication costs related fo inveslors services and unitholders meelings,
confirmations, financial reporting and other reporting, proxies, the costs relating to the Offering Memorandum and
Appendix 22 and other similar offering documents and the costs relating io the preparation, priniing, translation and
dalivery of such documenis, and any other extraordinary costs and expensas that would nol usually oocour.

Thia Trustes has agreed to indamnify the Fea Agent, out of the assels of the Sedes Trust againsl all actions,
proceadings, claims, costs, demands and expenses which may be brought againat, suffered or incurmed by the Fee
Agent by reason of the parformance or non-parformancs of its obligations or funcions as Fee Agent under the larms
of the fes agent appoiniment agresment (including all legal, professional and other expenses measonably and
propedy incumed), except where such action, proceeding, daim, cosl, demand or expense anses from the gross
nagliganca, bad fath, fraud or witful default of the Fas Agent.

The Fea Agent is entitied to receive Operational Costs Fees, accniad on and calculated as at each valustion day.

Tha Fea Agent is entitted to recaive a fes of 0.413% par annum of the Nel Asset Valua and a fea of 0.03% per annum
of the Net Asset Value (subject 1o a minimum monthly fee of USD3,333) (together the "Operational Costs Fees”).

Tha Operational Cosls Fess ara payable by the Administrator, on behalf of the Trustes, out of the assets of tha
Series Trusl. To the extent thet the Operational Costs Fee is not suffident to cover the Ovdinary Costs, the Fee Agent

sccrued, from and excluding, for the first accrued period only, the initial dosing day and for all other sccrued periods,
the last day of each calendar quarber.
Formation Expenses include offering cosls relaled to the issuence of units but not limited o the fees
related fo the preparation and submission of the Offering Documants) and fees related to the marketing of the Seres
Trust, if any; and other costs related lo the formation of thw Series Trust and the offering of units, other than those
initially imcurred. Such oosts and expenses are payable by the Feas Agant using tha Oparational Costs Fees.

(C) Manager Feos

The Manager is entifed to receive out of the Operational Cost Fee, a manegement fee of US$5,000 per annum
payable monthly in amears. The fess eamed by the Manager during the years ended September 30, 2020 and
Saptember 30, 2018 and ocuistanding fees payabla to tha Manager as of Sepleamber 30, 2020 and September 30,
2019, if any, have been disclosed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the Statement of Financial
Position, respactively, a3 a par of Fes agent feas.
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(D} Agant Membear Company Foass

The Agent Member Company is entitied to receive a fee of 0.01% per annum of the Nei Asset Value sccrued on and
calculated a8 at each valuation day and payable quarlerly in amears. The Apent Member Company Fees ane paid by
the Administrator, on behalf of the Manager out of the assets of the Seres Trust. The fees samed by the Agent
meumhmmmm 2020 and Seplember 30, 2019, have been discosed in the
Statement of Comprahengiva Incoma

(E) Collataralizad Swaps Countarparty

The Series Trust is permitted to enter into Collateralized Swaps with Credit Suisse Inlemational, a relaled party to the
Manager. Open Collaterslired Swaps contracis at Seplember 30, 2020 and Septembar 30, 2119, are discusaed in
Nota 6 and Nete 7. During the years ended Saptember 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, thare was nal realired
({loss)igain of $(2, 687 422} and $1,383,753, respectively, and there was change in unrealized appreciation of $26,263
and 5285588, respectively, on Collateralired Swaps with Credit Suisse Intarnational which ks disclosed in tha
Staternent of Comprehensive Income.

(F) Distribution Fees

In respeci of each dass of units, tha Disiributor is entitied 1o ecaive a fae of 0.75% per annum of the Mel Assal Value
gccrued on and calculated a3 &t each valuation day multiplied by the fraction of unita of such class for which the
Distributor is unitholder divided by the tolal number of units issued in respedt of such dass of units, and payable
manthly in amears (the “Distribution Fees”). The Distribution Feas are payable by the Adminisirator, on behalf of the
Manager, out of the sesets of the Series Trusl. The fees earned by the Distributor during the years ended Seplember
30, 2020 and Seplember 30, 2019, hawve been disclosad in the Stalemeni of Comprehensive incoms.

[G) Manager Support Servica Pravider Fees
The Manager Support Service Provider Fees shall be included in and paid as par of the Investmert Management

8. BORROWING AND LEVERAGE POLICY

Tha Saras Trust may bomow up to 10% of its Net Asset Value if required 1o facilitate short tarm cash flows. During
the years ended September 30, 2020 and September 30, 2019, the Seres Trust did nel incur any bomowings.

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The developmeant of the COVID pandamic since October 1, 2020 is ongeoing and il impact has proven to have an
adverse effect on financial markets. The rapid development and fluidity of this situation preciudes any prediction as ita
ulimale impact, which may have a continuad adverse impaci on economic and market conditions and Irigger
& pariod of global aconomic slowdown. Manager and the Trustes do not balieve that thers is any financial impact o
the financial statements e+ al Seplember 30, 2020 as a result of this subsequent event.

Hmmlﬂthmmmmﬂmhmwhmﬂmﬂmhwﬁmﬂ
regponse basad on existing business continuity plans and on guidance from global health organizations, redevant
govemments, and general pandemic reaponse besl pracices.

The Trustee has evalusled all subsequent transactions and events through February 1, 2021, the date on which
these financial siatements were aveilable o be issued. Effective Oclober 1, 2020 through February 1, 2021, there
were repurchases of $2,057,709. During the same period, thare wera distributions of $48,210. Thare are no other
subsequent events to reporl as relates lo the Sedes Trusl
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2021
8,373,128.45 670,520
0 0
8,373,128.45 670,520

229,405

57,380

1,011.2( )

95.60( 7,656
)
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
UsD USsD
34,534 3,608 22,534 2,354
34,534 3,608 22,534 2,354
4 34,534 3,608 22,534 2,354
5 215,000 22,463 205,000 21,418
1) ) 8 1
249,513 26,069 227,542 23,774
6 (143,734) (15,017)  (121,067) (12,649)
105,779 11,052 106,475 11,125
105,779 11,052 106,475 11,125
7 J— J— J— R
105,779 11,052 106,475 11,125

17
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2019 12 31
2019 2018
USsD USsD

9 1,436,186 150,053 1,213,367 126,773
10 217,427 22,717 206,873 21,614
1,653,613 172,769 1,420,240 148,387
10 131,329 13,721 3,735 390
131,329 13,721 3,735 390
11 735,000 76,793 735,000 76,793
787,284 82,255 681,505 71,204
1,522,284 159,048 1,416,505 147,996
1,653,613 172,769 1,420,240 148,387

)

)

)

)

)
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2019 12 31
usD usD usD
2019
2019
2019 1 1 735,000 76,793 681,505 71,204 1,416,505 147,996
— — 105,779 11,052 105,779 11,052
2019 12 31 735,000 76,793 787,284 82,255 1,522,284 159,048
2018
2018
2018 1 1 735,000 76,793 575,030 60,079 1,310,030 136,872
— — 106,475 11,125 106,475 11,125
2018 12 31 735,000 76,793 681,505 71,204 1,416,505 147,996
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2019 12 31
2019 2018

UsD UsD
105,779 11,052 106,475 11,125
4 (34,534) (3,608) (22,534) (2,354)
21 2 () @
71,266 7,446 83,933 8,769
(10,575) (1,105) 92,358 9,650
(10,575) (1,105) 92,358 9,650
127,594 13,331 (1,639) (171)
127,594 13,331 (1,639) @171)
188,285 19,672 174,652 18,248

0

4 34,534 3,608 22,534 2,354
34,534 3,608 22,534 2,354
222,819 23,280 197,186 20,602
1,213,367 126,773 1,016,181 106,171
1,436,186 150,053 1,213,367 126,773
9 1,436,186 150,053 1,213,367 126,773

1,436,186 150,053 1,213,367 126,773
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Maples Corporate Services Limited, P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
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©
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(1)
(i)
(iii)

(b)
Q)

(i)

(i)
(iv)

Q)

(vi) @
(vit) (@(i)

®
IFRIC 23 IASB 2017 6  IFRIC 23
IFRIC 23
IAS 12

IFRIC 23 2019 1 1 2019 1 1
IFRIC 23
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IFRS 2015-2017 1ASB 2017 12 IFRS 2015-2017
IFRS 2015-2017 IFRS 2015-2017 2019 1 1
2019 1 1 IFRS 2015-2017
IAS 19 IASB 2018 2
IAS 19
IAS 19 2019 1 1

2019 1 1 IAS 19

1ASB IFRS
2(k)

17

2019 2018
34,534 22,534
34,534 22,534

2019 2018

215,000 205,000

215,000 205,000
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2019 2018
(34,668) (1,315)
(191) (545)
(34,859) (1,860)
(3,119) (3,117)
(105, 756) (106,500)
— (9,590)

(108,875)  (119,207)

(143,734) (121,067)

2029 10 10

2019 12 31

HOLT®

5,000 2018 5,000 2019 12 31
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2019 2018

1,436,186 1,213,367

1,436,186 1,213,367

2019 2018
217,427 206,873
217,427 206,873
2019 2018
131,329 3,735
131,329 3,735
2019 2018

1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000

735,000 735,000 735,000 735,000
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©

2019 2018 12 31

@

HKD

HKD uSsD USD HKD

®

2019 2018 12 31
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a)
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
— 215,000 215,000 — 205,000 205,000
— 215,000 215,000 — 205,000 205,000
25,573 — 25,573 3,735 — 3,735
735,000 — 735,000 735,000 — 735,000
760,573 — 760,573 738,735 — 738,735
b)
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
— 215,000 215,000 — 205,000 205,000
34,668 — 34,668 1,315 — 1,315
©)
2019 2018
105,756 106,500
105,756 106,500

2019 12 31
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15.
16.

2019
17. 2019 12 31

1ASB 2019 12 31
IFRS 17
IFRS 3 2020 1 1
IAS 1 IAS 8 2020 1 1
2020 1 1 2020 1
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Cregif Susizes Managerment (Capran) Linited
Financial sistements far the e onded 31 Decamber 2018

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended

31 December 2019

Petarencs
o Mobs
2019 2018
Statement of profit or loss (USD)

Interest income 24,534 L2 hE4
- of which Interest income from instrumerts at amodised cost 34 534 2 hE4
Met interest income a 34,534 22534
Senvice Fee Income B 215,000 206,000
Cther (losses M revenuss (1) ]
Net revenues 249,513 227,542
Genaral, admirstrative and trading expenses 5] (143,734) (121,067)
Operating profit before allowance and taxation 105,779 106,475
Prafit befora tax 105,779 106,475
Income tax expanse T — —

Profit after tax

105,779 106,475

The notes on pages Sto 17 form part of these financial statements.
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el Suizse Mansgement {Cayman) Limiled
Fravcal! shrlamants for the year anded 51 Dacamber F015

Statement of financial position at 31 December 2019

A

2019 2018
Assets (USD)
Cash and due from banks g 1,436,166 1,213,367
Other assels 10 217,427 206,873
Total assets 1,653,613 1,420,240
Liabilities (USD)
Other liabilities 10 131,329 3735
Total liabilities 131,329 3,735
Shareholders’ equity (USD)
Share capital i 736,000 735,000
TRetained BAMNINGS TET.264 6815
Total shareholders’ equity 1,522,284 1,416,505
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1,653,613 1,420,240

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on lo Sume Lodo

o

Micolas Papavoine
Direchor

Credit Sulsse Management {Cayman] Limited

The notes on pages 8 to 17 form part of these financial statements.
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Lol Suizse Management (Cayruey Limided
Financial salements for #e ypear ended 31 December 2019

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2018

Share  Retained
capital  earnings Total
2019
2019 Statement of changes in equity (USD)
Balance at 1 January 2019 735,000 681,505 1,416,505
Prodit for the year - 106,779 106,772
“Balance at 31 December 2019 735,000 787,284 1,522,284
2018
2018 Statement of changes in equity (USD)
“Balance at 1 January 2018 735,000 575,030 1,310,030
“Proft for the year — 106,475 106,475
‘Balance at 31 December 2018 735,000 681,505 1,416,505

The nobes on pages B0 17 form part of these financial statements,
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Crengt Suisse Management (Caymueny) Lirnded
Fingncie! Satements for the year ended 37 December 20719

Statement of Cash flow for the year ended 31 December 2019

Ridwenza
iy Moke

2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities I{I.ISE}

Fr.:\-.fi'_ fr_-_r .‘.r|.:_ :r-\,:_._alr 'I 0 i:'. 'I,T--I_---_r al I_ﬁ_ 4-;,-'-?'
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash

generated from aperating aclivities

Non-cash items included in net profit before tax
and other adjustments:

Interest Income q =4 524) (20 B54)
Unnealised gain and loss L =)
Cash generated from before changes in

operating assets and liabilities 71,266 83,933
Met (increase)/decrease in operating assets:

Oiher assats (10,57H) Qo 308
Met {(increase)/decrease in operating assets {10,575) 92,358
MNet increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

Cther habities and provisions 1547 B4 (1,639)
Net increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities 127,594 (1,639)
Income taxes pasd - -

Net cash generated from operating activities 188,285 174,652
Cash flows from financing activity (USD)

Inferest income 4 34,534 22,534

Met cash generated from financing activity (USD) 34,534 22,534
Met increase in cash and cash equivalents 222819 197,186
Cash and cash equivalerts at the beginning of year 1,213,367 1,016,181

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

{UsD 1,436,186 1,213,367

Cash and due from banks 9 1,435,186 1,213,367

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year

(UsD) 1,436,186 1,213,367

The notes on pages 8 to 17 form part of these financial statements,
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Credit Susse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes to Snanclal staterents for ihe year ended 31 December 2015

MNotes to the financial statements

1. Principal activities

Cradit Suize Management (Cayman) Limited (the *“Company®) iz incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with limited liability. The Company's principal activities are the creation of trusts and the admingstration
and management of assetsin frusts, The Company'sregistered olfics is oo Maples Corporate Services
Limited, PO. Box 308, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman lslands.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
(&) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable International Finandal
Reporting Standards ("IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable indhvidual International
Financial Reporting Standards, International Accourting Standards ('1ASs") and Inberpretations issued
by Intemalional Accounting Standards Board ("IASE"). A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company s sef out below,

fb)  Basis of praparation of the finandial statemants
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, labilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumplicns are based on
histovical experierce and vanous other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the resulls of which form the basis of making the judgements about camying values of assets and Babiities
that are not readily apparent from other sources, Actual resulis may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underying assumptions are reviewed onan ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision aftects only that
period, or in the pericd of the revision and future perods if the revision affects both cument and future

periods.
©  Foreign cumency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is US Dellars (LISD). Foreign cumrency transactions
during the year are translaled into United States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates nuling at the
transaction dates, Monetary assels and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated info
Linited States Dollars at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporing period. Exchangs
gains and kosses are recognised in the profit or loss.

Mon-monetany assets and kabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a forsign currency
are transtated into Unied States Dallars using the foraign exchange rates rubing at {he transaction dates,
Mon-monetary assets and Babilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are
transtated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the lair value was determined, Foreign
currency differences arising on refransiation are recognised in profit or loss,
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Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes o Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
@)  Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and due from banks comprise cash at bank and on hand with banks, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily corwerdible info known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in valug, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

{a) Other assats

Cther assets are infially recognized at fair value and thersatter stated ot amortised cost less allowance
for impairment of doubttul debts (see note 2gl), except where the receivables are intersst-fres lcans
madeto related parties without any feced repayiment terms or the effect of dis counting would beimmaterial,
In such cases, the receivables are staled at cost less impalrment for bad and deubitul debis,

i) Frovisions and contingant abiitias

Prouisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Company has a legal o
constructive obligalion arsing as a result of a past evenl, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benafits will be reguired fo setile the obligation and a reliable eslimate cash be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the preseni value of the expenditure expacted to
settle the oblgation,

Where # is not probable that an autflow of economic benefits will be requirad, or the amaunt cannot be
estimated reliably;, the obligation is disclosed as a contingant kability, unless the probability of cutflow of
economic benefits is remole. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
oecurence of non-actumence of one or more future svents are also disclosed as contingent labilities
unkess the probablity of cutflow of economic bensfits is ramote,

@) impairment

Thecarrying amount of the Company's assets is reviewed at theend of each reporting period to determine
whether thers is any objective evidence of impairment, If any such objective evidence exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated at the end of each reparting pericd. An impaiment loss is recognised
whenever the cammying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are
recognized in the profit or loss.

Under IFRS 9, the impairment requirements apply primarily to financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The impairment requirements have changed from an incurred loss model under IFRS 9 to an
expeched credit loss ("ECL") model under IFRS 9 by incorporating reasonable and supportable forecasts
of future economic conditions available at the reporting date. The adoption of this does not have a
material impact to the Company's financial statements.

() Revenue recogmnition
Prowided thaf it i probable fhat the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the revenue and

costs, if apphicable, can be measured reliably, management fee income is recognised in profit or loss
when thie investment management senvice s provided.
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Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes o Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012
Significant accounting policies (continued)
Expeansas
Al expenzes are recognised in profit and loss on an accrual basis,
Related parfies

For the purposes of these financial statements, a parly is considerad to be related to the Company if:
(&) A person, or aclose member of that person's family & related to the Company if that person:
) has cortrol or joint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or
(i) s & member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company's parent,

by  An entity &= related to the Company if any of the following condfions applies:

() The entityand the Company are members of the same group (which means thal each parent,
subsidiany and fellow subsidiary is refated to the athers).

(1) Oneentity is an associate of joint verture of the olher entity (or an associate or joint venture
of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint vertures of the same third party.

() Oneentiy s a jint venture of a thind parly and the other entity is an associate of the thid
party.

{(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benelit of employees of aither the
Company or an entity refated to the Comparny.

(vi)  The enity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a)

(vii) A person ientified in (2)() has significant influence over the entity or B & member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity)

Cloze members of the family of a parson are those family membars who may be expected to influsnce,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Standards and Interpretations effective in the currert period

e IFRIC 22 In June 2017, the IASE esved IFRIC 23 'Uncedainly over Income Tax
Treatments' (IFRIC 23), IFRIC 23 clarifies the accounting for uncertainties in income taxes and
i to be applied to the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses,
unused tax credite and tax rates, when there is uncerainty over income tax trestments under
14512, IFRIC 23 was effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1 January 2018, The
Company adopted IFRIC 23 on 1 January 2019, The adoption did not have a matenal impact to
the Company's financial position, resulls of oparation or cash flows.

»  Annual Improvements fo IFRS: 200 52017 Cycler In December 2017, the lASE ssued "Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 cycle' (Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017). The
Improvements to IFRSs Z015-2017 were effective for annual periods beginning on or affer 1
January 2019, The Company adopted the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cydle on
1 January 2019, The adoption did net have a materal impact to the Company’s financial position,
results of operation or cash flows,
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Credit S¥sse Management (Cayman) Limited
Mofes to Firancial statements for the year ended 31 Decamber 2012
2 Significant accounting policies (continued)
+  Amendments to 1AS 12 Plan Amendment, Cuttalment or Settlement: In Februany 2018, the
IASE issued 'Flan Amendment, Curtaiiment or Settlement” (Amendments tolAS 19) that spacifies
how companies delermine pension expenses when changes to a defined benefit pension plan
occur. The Amendments to 1AS 19 were effective for annual periods baginning on or after |
January 2019, The Company adopted the Amendments to A5 19 on 1 January 2015, The
adoption did nod have a material impact to the Company’s financial position, results of operation

or cash flows,

3. Changes in Accounting Policies

The 1458 has issued a number of amendments fo IFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
pericd of the Company. Mone of these developments have had a matenal effect on how the Company's
results and financial position for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented in Mole
2k

The Company has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet sffective tor the current
accounting pericd (Mote 17),

4. Met Interest income

2019 2018
Net Interest Income (USD)
Interest income on cash and due from banks 24,534 22,534
Interest income 34,534 22,534

All the above interest income on instruments are at amortised cost,
5. Service Fee Income

The principal activities of the Company are the creation of trusts and the administration and management
of assels in trusts.

Fevenue represents investment management fee income eamed from fellow subsidiary as follows:

2019 2018
Revenues (USD)
Service e income 215,000 208,000
Total revenues 215,000 205,000
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Credit Susse Management (Cayrman) Limited
Motes to Fnanclal staternents for the year ended 31 December 2019

6. General, Administrative and Trading Expenses

2019 2018

General, administrative and trading expenses (USD)

Other expansas (24, 665 (1,315
Bank charges {191) (545)
Trading expenses (34,859) (1,860)
Auditor remuneration (3,119 (=117
Direclors’ remuneration (106, 756) {106, 5000
Protessional Services — (9,590
General and administrative expenses (108,875) (119,207)
Total g-mml. administrative and hu:lng expenses (143,734) (121,067)

All of the above expendiures are payable to the Company’s immediate holding company and the Immediate
helding company settles such expenditures on behalt of the Company:

7. Taxation

There are no taxes on income or gains in the Cayman lskands and the Company has received an
undertaking from the Govemner in Councdl of the Cayman Istands exempting it from all local income,
profits and capital tawes until 10 Cetober 20290 Accardingly, no provision for income taxes i included
in these financial statements,

8. Unconsolidated Structured Entities
Sparsored unconsoiidated strucfured entities

The Company considers fself the sponsor of a structured enfity when either s name appsars inthe name
of the structured entity or in products Bsued by it or there is a general expectation from the markst that the
Company is assocated with the structured ertity or the Company was involeed in the design or set up of the
structured entity and has a form of invohement with the structured enfity  For unconsolidated structured
enlities that were sponsored by the Compary but no inferest was held, the Company did ned recene investment
management fees from these entities during the reporling period and no assets were transferrad to these
anities,

The below unconsalidated structured entities are sponsered by the Company where no management fes is
received and no interest is held by the Company as at 31 December 2019,

- HOLT® Japan Income Plus Strateqy Fund (For Qualified Institutional lrvestors Only)
The bebow unconsolidated structured entities are sponsored by the Company where a fised annual

management fee of USD 5,000 (2018: USD 5,000) is recsived but no interest is held by the Compary as
at 31 December 2018
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Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes to Firancial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019

8. Unconsclidated Structured Entities (Continued)

Asia Equity Income Plus Strategy Fund (Fer Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Global REIT Alpha Fund (Fer Qualified Institutional Investars Only)
Australian High Dividend Equity Twin Alpha Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Ondy)
Diarwa Australian High Dividend Equity Alpha Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investors Cinly)
Principal £ C5 Canadian Equily Income Fund (For Clualified Institulional Investors Only)
TS Global KEIT Triple Fremium Fund (For Quadified Institutional Investors Only)
LS High Dwvidend Equity Premium Fund (For Cualifisd Institutional Irvestors Only)
U5 Small Cap Equity Premium Fund (For Qualified Instiutional Investors Only)
Datwa Emerging Local Market Bond Fund (For Clualified Instdutional Investors Only)
J-REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
US Preferred REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Instifutional Irvestors Only)
Japan Equity Premium Fund (For Oualfied Institutional Investors Chnly)
MNEAYAM US REIT Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Onby)
Daiwa UK High Dividend Equily Fund (For Clualified Institutional Investors Only)
AMF Austraka Income Bond Fund (For Qualified Instilutional Irvestors Only)
Brazil Equity Alpha Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investars Only)
Daiwa Brazilian Real Bond Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investors Only)
LS Value Equity Concentrated Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investors Only)
Nissay Japan Equdy Active Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investars Only)
“AMP Austrakia REIT Fund (F or Qualified Instiiutional Investors Orily)
J-REIT and Real Estate Equity Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investors Only)
Shinsei European Bond Fund (For Qualified |nstitutional Investors Cnly)

Balmaa American High Dividend Equity Liuattro Income Fund (For Qualitied Institutional Investors
nly.

Dawa American REIT Cuattro Income Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investors Only)
Shinzel World Wrap Fund Stable Type (For Qualitied Instftutional Investors Only)
Shirsel World Wrap Fund Growth Type (For Qualified Instititional investors Only)

US REIT Triphe Engine Plus Fund (For Qualified Institutioral Irvestors Only)

Japanese Govemment Bond 17-20 Year Ladder Fund (Far Qualified Institutioral Investars Only)
Australia REIT Fund

Australia REIT Plus Fund

LS Treasury 5-T Year Ladder Fund (For Qualified Institutional lovestors Cnly)

LIS Municipal Bond Fund

Tokic Marine CAT Bord Furd

Dowrside Control Equity Fund (For Gualified Institutional Investors Lnly)

Global High Dividend Equily Premium Fund (For Cualified Institutional Investors Only)
Meister's Collection

LIS REIT Premium Fund (For Qualified Institutional Investars Only)

HOLT Eure Equily Premium Fund (For Qualified Instutional lrvestors Only)

PIMCO Short Term Income Stralegy Fund

PIMCO Shart Term Strategy

Daiwa J-REIT Covered Call Fund (For Cualified Instiutional Investars Only)

The Company has not provided financial or other support to consolidated structured entities that it was niot
contractually required to provide.

The Company does not currently have the intention to provide firancial or other support to unconsclidated
structured entities that & is not contractually requised to provide.
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Credit Susse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes to Fnanclal staternernts for the year ended 31 December 2019

Cash and Due from Banks

Cash and cash equivaiants comprise:

2019 2018
Cash and due from banks (USD)
Cash and due from banks | ,4"515'.1, 185 1 M3 367
Total cash and due from banks 1,436,186 1,213,367
Other Assets and Other Liabilities
2019 2018
Other assets (USD)
Inianzst and feas recanable T 42T 06,873
Total other assets 217,427 206,873
_ 2019 2018
Other liabilities (USD)
Interest and fees payable 131,329 3,735
Total other liabilities 131,329 3,735
Share Capital
Authorised and issued share capital
2019 2018
No. af usp No. af LUsD
shares shares
Authorised:
Ordirary shares of USD 1 each 1,000,030 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid up:
Ordirary shares Tah, 000 736,000 T35,000 735,000

The holdars of ordinary shares are enfifled 1o recenve dvidends as declared from time to time and are entithed
to one vote per share at general meetings of the Company. Al ordinany shares rank equally with regard to
the Company's residual assets

Capital management

The Company's primary objectives when managing capial are to safeguard the Campany’s ability to confinue
as a going concermn so that d can conlinue to provide retums for shareholders, by pricing services
cornmensumtely with the level of risk and by securing accesstofinance at a reasonable cost. Asthe Company
is part of 2 karger group, the Company's sources of additional capital and poficies for distribution of excess
capital may ako be affected by the group's capital management objectives. The Company defines “capital®
as incleding all components of equity.
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Credit Susse Management (Cayrran) Limited

Motes to Pnanclal statererts for the year ended 31 December 2013
Share Capital (continued) 4

TheCompany'scapital structura is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard tothe capial management
practices of the groupto which the Company balongs.  Adjusiments are made to the capilal structure in light
of changes ineconomic conditions affecting the Company or the group, 1o the extert that these do not condlict
with the directors' fiduciary didies towards the Company.

The Company was not subject to extemally imposed capital requirements in the cument period.
Financial Risk Management and Fair Values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the
Company's business. These risks are managed by the Company's financial management policies and
practices descrbed below,

Credit sk

The Comparry’s credit risk is primarlly atiributable to ameunts due from group companies and cash at
bank, Credit risk s defined as risk thai one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial koss to
ancther parly by failing to discharge an obligation, Management reguiarly monitors its risk expesure to
ensure that its credit risk is kept to a minimal level. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carning amount of each financial assel in the statement of financial position after deducting any
impairment allowance,

Ligunctity risk

The Company’s policy s o regulardy monitor its liquidity requirements to satisfy its contraciual and
reasorably foresesable obligations as they fall due.

At 31 December 2019 and 2018, all of the Company's financial labilties, which includes all creditors
and accruals, are on demand of undated and are expected 1o be setthed within three months.

Infarast rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk only to the exdent that # earns bank interest on cash and

deposits. At 31 December 2019 and 2018, a change in interest rafes would have no direct matenal
effect on the camying value of the recognised assets or liabilities of the Company,

Forgign currancy risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through cedain fransactions which give rise
to payables that are denominated in Hong Kaong dallars (" HKDS),

As the HKD & pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Comparny considers that the risk of
movemanis in exchange raies between the USD and the HKD to be insignificant,

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Company's financial instruments camied at cost or amortised cost are not
rmaterally different from their fair value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018,
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Credit Susse Management (Cayman) Limited
Motes to Fnanclal staternernts for the year ended 31 December 2019
Material Related Party Transactions

In additionto the transactions and balances declosed elsewhers in the financial statements, the Company
entered into the following material related party transactions,

a) Relaled party bakance shes! transactions

Inaddition i the transactions and balances declosed elsewhers inthe financial stalements, the Company
enlered into the following material related pary transactions in the normal course of business.

_ December 31, 2019 December 31, 20018
Parent Fellow Tevtal Parent Fellow Total
Group Group
Companies Companies
Assets (USD)
Clther assets = 215,000 216,000 = 206,000 206,000
Total assets - 215,000 215,000 — 205,000 205,000
Liabilifies and Equity
UsD)
Cther habilitios 25,673 - 25,575 3,735 — 3.735
Share capiia Vb, 000 - 35,000 ¥.35,000 - 135,000
Total liabilities and
sharehokders' equity 760,573 2 7E0,5T3 738,735 - 738,735
b} Related party revenues and expenses
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Elhw Ealhw
Parent  gomponies  Total Parent  Comeanies  Total
Other revenues
{UsSD)
Other revenues — 215,000 215,000 — 205,000 205,000
Other e xpenses
{USD)
Other expenses
i 34,668 — 34,668 1,315 = 1,315
) Remunarafion of ey Management Personnel
I!Hhuﬁh"ﬂ-iﬁl of Key Management Pargonnsl (USD) 2019 2018
Short-leem emplopes benefity 105, 7565 106 500
Tatad Remuneration of Key Management Person nel 105,756 108,500

Parent and Ultimate Holding Company

At 31 December 2019, the immedate parent of the Company is Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited,
which s incorporated in Hong Kong and the ulimale contralling party of the Comparny is Credit Suisse
Group AG, which is incorporated in Switzedand. Credit Suisse Group AGS produces financial statemerts
avaitable for public use.

Restatement of Comparative Figures

Thie Company firancials have nol been re-stated.

[ 3]
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Credit Susse Management (Cayrran) Limited
Motes to Fnanclal staternernts for the year ended 31 December 2019

Non-Adjusting Events after the Reporting Period

There are no matesial non-adjusting evenis for 2019,

Possible Impact of Amendments, New Standards and Interpretations issued but not
yvet effective for the year ended 31 December 2019

Up to the date of Issue of thess financial statements, the 1A5B has issued a number of amendments
and a new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance confracls, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2019 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Company

Effective for avccunting periods

beginning on or after
Amendments to IFRS 3, Oefinibon of abusness  1Jamey2020
Amendments to 145 1 and |AS 8, Definiion of matenal 1 Januany 2020

The Company is inlhe process of making an assessment of whal the impact of these developments &
expected to be in the pericd of initial application. The amendments are effective for annual pericds
beginning onor after 1 January 2020 with an early adopdion permitted. The adoption on 1 January 2020
did not have a significant impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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Intertrust N.V.

@) (Brown Brothers Harriman & Co.)

2021
5,000 8,880,800
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2021 781
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SIX Cricket Square Grand Cayman KY1-1106 Cayman Islands
Telephone +1 345 949 4800

Fax +1 345 949 7164

Internet www.kpmg.ky

Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Australia REIT Fund (For Qualified Institutional
Investors Only) (the "Series Trust"), a series-trust of Credit Suisse Universal Trust (Cayman) IIl , which
comprise the statement of financial position as at September 30, 2020, the statements of comprehensive
income , changes in net assets attributable to the holder of units and cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Series Trust as at September 30, 2020, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("'IFRS™).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit 1in accordance with International Standards on Auditing ('ISAs™). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the <Auditors®™ Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in
accordance with International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code™) together with
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statement s in
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Series Trust"s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Series Trust or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Series Trust®s financial reporting
process.
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Independent Auditors® Report to the Trustee (continued)
Auditors®™ Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Series Trust"s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management®s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust"s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditors® report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors® report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to
cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

February 1, 2021
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (the ““Company””) set
out on pages 4 to 17, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the statement of
profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flow
for the year other then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2019 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standard (““IFRS~”~).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (““ISAs””). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (““IESBA Code””) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information other than the financial statements and auditor's report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Responsibilities of the directors' for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance

with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the Audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.
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Independent auditor's report to the board of directors of
Credit Suisse Management (Cayman) Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company ~ s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors = use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company ~ s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor * s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor * s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince's Building

10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
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